An Alternative Prophylaxis for Deep Vein Thrombosis Using Intermittent Electrical Stimulation

by

Kahir Aly Rahemtulla

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Medicine University of Alberta

© Kahir Aly Rahemtulla, 2019

Abstract

Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is a blood clot that typically forms in the deep veins of the lower body and is the third most common cardiovascular disease, after myocardial infarction and stroke, in the world today. One of the causes of DVT, is the slow movement or stoppage of blood flow, known as venous stasis. Current methods of DVT prevention include anticoagulants and mechanical prophylaxis. Despite these methods having previously shown to lower the incidence of DVT, anticoagulant use is contraindicated in individuals with major bleeding risks and mechanical interventions often prove to be cumbersome and uncomfortable. The overall goal of my project was to investigate a novel method for DVT prevention, termed intermittent electrical stimulation (IES). The current study investigated the effects of IES on healthy typical, as well as post-stroke persons. The results showed that IES-induced contractions, lead to significant increases in venous flow compared to baseline, at relatively low levels of IES-induced contractions, and at comfortable levels of stimulation in typical and in post-stroke persons.

The results indicate that IES can sufficiently increase venous flow to prevent venous stasis and is comfortable for end users. Incorporation of IES into a clinical device, could serve to provide a feasible and effective alternative for DVT prophylaxis.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Kahir A. Rahemtulla. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received ethics approval from the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board, under the project name, "Prevention of deep vein thrombosis in immobile individuals using intermittent electrical stimulation," No Pro00039421, October 24, 2017. To my loving and joyful parents. I can never thank you enough for what you have given me.

Contents

Abstract	ii				
Preface					
Table of Figures					
Table of Tables	ix				
1 Literature Review	1				
1.1 Definition and Classification of Deep Vein Thrombosis	1				
1.2 Significance of DVT	1				
1.3 Hemostasis	2				
1.3.1 Overview of Hemostasis	2				
1.3.2 Primary Hemostasis	3				
1.3.3 Secondary Hemostasis	4				
1.3.4 Anticoagulation and Thrombolysis	5				
1.4 Etiology of DVT	6				
1.5 Pathophysiology of DVT	8				
1.6 Risk Factors of Deep Vein Thrombosis	8				
1.7 Current Methods of Prophylaxis for DVT	10				
1.7.1 Overview of Prophylactic Methods for DVT	10				
1.7.2 Anticoagulants for DVT Prophylaxis	11				
1.7.3 Mechanical Methods for DVT Prophylaxis	14				
1.8 Intermittent Electrical Stimulation as an Alternative Form of DVT Prophylaxis	22				
1.9 Overview of Masters Work	23				
1.9.1 Masters Scope	23				
1.9.2 Stimulation Paradigm	23				
1.9.3 Hypothesis	24				
1.10 Figures	25				
1.11 References	27				
2 An Alternative Prophylaxis for Deep Vein Thrombosis Using Intermittent Electrical					
Stimulation	47				
2.1 Introduction	47				

	2.2	Materials and Methods	. 49
	2.2	2.1 Participants	. 49
	2.2	2.2 Experimental Protocol	. 49
	2.2	2.3 Venous Velocity and Force Measurements	. 52
	2.2	2.4 Evaluation of Participant Comfort During Stimulation	. 53
	2.2	2.5 Data Analysis	. 53
	2.2	2.6 Statistical Analysis	. 54
	2.3	Results	. 54
	2.3	.1 Participants	. 54
	2.3 Ve	Effect of Strength of IES-Induced Plantar Flexion on Increases in Popliteal Venclocity.	ous . 55
	2.3 Ge	Changes in Popliteal and Femoral Venous Velocity with Increasing Force neration	. 55
	2.3 Atr	Changes in Popliteal Venous Velocity due to IES-inducted Contractions in rophied Muscles	. 57
	2.3	Changes in Peak Volumetric Flowrate due to IES-induced Contractions	. 58
	2.3	Effect of Rate of Force Generation on Peak Popliteal Venous Velocity	. 58
	2.3	Comfort and Acceptability of IES for DVT Prophylaxis	. 58
	2.4	Discussion	. 59
	2.4	0.1 Overview	. 59
	2.4	Comparison of IES to Existing Mechanical Compression Systems	. 60
	2.4 DV	Comparison of IES to Existing Electrical Stimulation System for Preventing	.60
	2.4	Muscle Contraction Characteristics Most Suitable for the Prevention of DVT	. 62
	2.4	6.5 Conclusion	. 63
	2.5	Figures	. 64
	2.6	References	. 73
3	Ge	neral Conclusions and Future Directions	. 79
	3.1	Conclusions	. 79
	3.2	Limitations	. 80
	3.3	Future Directions	. 80
	3.4	Figures	. 83

3.5	References	84
Biblic	graphy	85
Appei	ndix1	05

Table of Figures

Figure 1-1: Overview of steps involved in primary hemostasis	25
Figure 1-2: Overview of steps involved in secondary hemostasis, the coagulation cascade	26
Figure 2-1: Electrode placement, stimulation paradigm and experimental setup	65
Figure 2-2: Outcome measures of venous blood velocity and force, with recruitment curves	67
Figure 2-3: Group 1 typical population data	68
Figure 2-4: Group 2 typical population data	70
Figure 2-5: Group 3 post-stroke population data	71
Figure 2-6: Comparison between Groups 1 & 2 (typical subjects) and 3 (post-stroke subjects).	. 72
Figure 3-1: The SOCC. TM	83

Table of Tables	
Table 2-1: Summary of participants in each study group	49

1 Literature Review

1.1 Definition and Classification of Deep Vein Thrombosis

Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is a blood clot, or thrombus, that forms in one or more of the deep veins, usually in the lower-body.¹ There are many risk factors that can increase the chances of developing a DVT, such as undergoing surgery, long periods of immobilization and having blood that is genetically predisposed to abnormal clot formation. DVTs can lead to further complications such as excessive swelling in the legs known as post thrombotic syndrome (PTS). Furthermore, DVTs become life-threatening when they dislodge from the venous wall, or embolize, and travel to the lungs where they can become lodged in the pulmonary vasculature, blocking the ability of blood flow to participate in necessary gaseous exchange. These clots are known as pulmonary emboli (PEs). Together, DVT and PE constitute the pathology known as venous thromboembolism (VTE).

1.2 Significance of DVT

VTE is one of the most prevalent cardiovascular diseases in the world today. With 10 million cases of VTE occurring each year, VTE is the 3rd leading vascular disease after acute myocardial infarction and stroke.² A systematic review performed by Raskob et al.,² which reviewed studies from Western Europe, North America, Australia and parts of Latin America, showed that the incidence for VTE ranged from 0.75 to 2.69 per 1 000 individuals. In Canada, the incidence of DVT, is 1-2 per 1 000 persons.³

To further add to its debilitating nature, VTE can be a chronic disease; it has been reported that 30% of all patients with a VTE, have a reoccurrence within 10 years.⁴ Furthermore, PTS is a

chronic complication of DVT that causes leg redness and swelling, and can lead to leg ulcers, which are difficult to treat.⁵ PTS develops in 20-50% of patients with DVT.⁶

The ubiquity of VTE and its chronicity can have significant impacts financially. In 2014, it was estimated that the yearly economic burden of VTE in the US was \$7-10 billion USD.⁷ However, perhaps the most severe attribute associated with a DVT is its link to developing a PE. It is estimated that 600 000 cases and an excess of 50 000 deaths can be attributed to PE in the United States annually.⁸ PEs can have severe acute impacts on mortality; studies have shown that 12% of PEs have one-month mortality rates⁹ and about 20% of patients with PE die before being diagnosed or shortly after.¹⁰ Furthermore, 90% of all PEs result from DVTs,¹¹ suggesting that DVT prevention could have profound effects on negating the mortality and morbidity caused by PEs. Lastly, 70% of PEs have asymptomatic DVTs,¹¹ illustrating DVT's insidiousness and the need for prevention in those who are asymptomatic but are at a higher risk of developing DVT.

1.3 Hemostasis

1.3.1 Overview of Hemostasis

Although the formation of pathological clots can be harmful, the process by which clots are formed, or hemostasis, is a vital physiological process that minimizes the amount of blood lost following injury. Therefore, it is important to understand the normal progression of hemostasis before grasping the etiology of DVT.

During blood vessel injury, hemostasis prevents excessive bleeding, stabilizes the injury and provides the blood vessel time to heal. Hemostasis is comprised of two parts, primary hemostasis and secondary hemostasis. Primary hemostasis involves the formation of a "plateletplug" to initially stop blood from leaking outside the vessel. However, it is not a sustainable solution and requires the protein, fibrin, which is formed in secondary hemostasis, to maintain a longer duration of clot sustainability. This Chapter examines the biochemical mechanisms of primary and secondary hemostasis in greater detail. Furthermore, the process of anticoagulation and clot-breakdown is also addressed.

1.3.2 Primary Hemostasis

Primary hemostasis is the formation of the platelet-plug, which forms a temporary clot to prevent bleeding, and is comprised of four steps: vasoconstriction, platelet adhesion, platelet activation and degranulation and platelet aggregation (Figure 1-1). When damage to the endothelial wall of the blood vessel occurs, vasoconstriction is needed to limit the amount of blood throughput, and in turn blood loss. It achieves this through two main mechanisms. The first is via a nerve reflex, where the smooth muscles of the blood vessels contract. The second is through the peptide endothelin, which acts to contract the smooth muscle cells in blood vessels, resulting in vasoconstriction. Moreover, vasodilators, such as nitric oxide (NO) and prostacyclin, decrease in concentration, furthering blood vessel vasoconstriction.

The second step of primary hemostasis is platelet adhesion. Platelets are typically prevented from sticking to endothelial walls of blood vessels by NO and prostacyclin. During injury, the concentration of these vasodilators reduces, and platelets encroach upon the endothelial walls and the site of injury. For platelets to form a plug at the site of injury, they require adhesion to von Willebrand Factor (vWF), which is attached to the subendothelial collagen. vWF is normally present in the blood but is secreted in higher concentrations by the endothelial cells at the site of injury. Once bound to the subendothelial collagen, vWF can bind to the platelet surface membrane, through the glycoprotein Ib alpha chain surface receptor, also

known as the GPIb receptor.

Once platelets bind to vWF, the third step – platelet activation and degranulation – can occur. This binding causes a conformational change in the platelet and allows its GPIIb/IIIa receptor to bind to fibrinogen, a necessary step that occurs only if the platelet is activated, leading eventually to the formation of a network of platelets. Furthermore, when the platelets are activated, granule sacs are released from the platelets into the blood, further promoting clotting. These granule sacs contain alpha and dense granules. While alpha granules, release fibrinogen and vWF, dense granules, release serotonin, ADP and calcium, which promote vasoconstriction, platelet activation and aggregation and secondary hemostasis, respectively. Additionally, activated platelets secrete thromboxane A2, a vasoconstrictor that causes increased platelet activation and helps with the last step of primary hemostasis, aggregation. Platelet aggregation is the binding of fibrinogen to the GPIIb/IIIa receptor on activated platelets as mentioned earlier. These network of connections between platelets and fibrinogen, are known as the platelet-plug.

1.3.3 Secondary Hemostasis

Primary hemostasis is a transient solution and requires improvements to increase its structural integrity through the addition of fibrin protein molecules, which are involved in secondary hemostasis. The purpose of secondary hemostasis is to convert fibrinogen to fibrin, a protein that promotes a more stable clot than was produced in primary hemostasis, through a process known as the coagulation cascade (Figure 1-2).

Fibrinogen is present in the blood as a zymogen and must be catalyzed to form fibrin through a series of coagulation factors that move through two main pathways, the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways, that are activated by internal and external trauma, respectively. These pathways involve a cascade of reactions and exist to improve the efficiency of fibrinogen-tofibrin conversion.

The intrinsic pathway involves a series of coagulation factors (factors XII, XI, IV, VIII) that catalyze one another through a cascade, amplifying the concentration of the next factor to maximize the amount of the final product, factor X. Factor X, in combination with factor V, will catalyze prothrombin into thrombin, where thrombin will catalyze fibrin into fibrinogen in the common pathway. The extrinsic pathway similarly uses combinations of coagulation factors (tissue factor and factor VII) to produce high amounts of factor X. Similar to the intrinsic pathway, the extrinsic pathway converges with the common pathway at factor X. Furthermore, thrombin institutes positive feedback on many factors of the intrinsic and extrinsic pathway to further increase fibrin formation. When fibrin is formed, factor XIII catalyzes cross-linking between fibrin strands to ensure a consolidated and stable clot is formed.

1.3.4 Anticoagulation and Thrombolysis

It is apparent that hemostasis must have a control mechanism to prevent an infinite propagation of clot development. Indeed, anticoagulation and thrombolysis – a process that prevents clots from forming and a process that breaks down clots after they have been formed, respectively – are two processes to ensure thrombosis development is controlled.

Anticoagulation is the process by which the body prevents clots from forming. It achieves this by preventing both primary and secondary hemostasis. Primary hemostasis is prevented by two molecules secreted by endothelial cells, NO and prostacyclin. These molecules prevent platelets from sticking to the endothelial walls and cause vasodilation to ensure adequate blood flow through the vessel. In turn, this prevents the formation of a platelet-plug. Secondary hemostasis is prevented by two other molecules secreted by endothelial cells, heparin-like molecule and thrombomodulin. Heparin-like molecule interacts with anti-thrombin III – already present in the blood – to inactivate thrombin. Recall, thrombin is responsible for transforming fibrinogen into fibrin to form a stable mesh. Furthermore, this interaction additionally inactivates factor X. Thrombomodulin also interacts with thrombin, altering its normal function. When a thrombomodulin/thrombin complex is formed, protein C, with activation from protein S, becomes activated and interacts with the thrombomodulin/thrombin complex. This interaction inhibits factors V and VIII from continuing the intrinsic pathway of the coagulation cascade.

Thrombolysis is the process by which the body breaks down previously formed clots. Endothelial cells play a vital role by releasing plasminogen activator, which transforms plasminogen, the zymogen normally present in the blood, into plasmin. Plasmin breaks down fibrin and fibrinogen at a clotting site, thus allowing breakdown of the clot.

1.4 Etiology of DVT

The body's natural equilibrium mechanisms allow for a balance between clotting and clot prevention to ensure that neither hemorrhage nor thrombosis outweighs the other. Excessive clotting leads to a pathological thrombosis. In 1856, Rudolf Ludwig Carl Virchow described three key conditions that contribute to thrombus formation that still hold true today.^{9,11-13} This triad is composed of stasis, hypercoagulability and endothelial damage, known as *Virchow's Triad*. Furthermore, each triadic component can be associated with genetic and/or behavioral risk factors. These will be briefly addressed here and will be elaborated on more thoroughly in Section 1.6 Risk Factors.

Stasis is defined as the slow movement or stoppage of blood flow. It can be caused by pathology such as congestive heart failure and polycythemia (hyperviscosity due to overproduction of red blood cells). Stasis can also arise due to a reduction in mobility, which is a suspected mechanism for thrombosis in long-distance travellers¹⁴ and in hospitalization¹⁵. In reduced mobility cases, stasis can lead to a DVT by increasing the contact time of coagulation factors with the endothelium.¹¹

Another element of Virchow's Triad is vessel endothelial wall damage. Normal endothelium is antithrombotic and damage exposes subendothelial collagen, allowing for platelet binding and promotion of coagulation. Endothelial damage can be commonly induced through major surgery, trauma or a chronic indwelling of a venous catheter.

The last element of Virchow's triad is hypercoagulability – having blood that has a high proclivity to clot. Hypercoagulability can be either hereditary or acquired. Common hereditary hypercoagulability, or thrombophilia, include Factor V Leiden mutation, prothrombin gene mutations and deficiencies in antithrombotic factors, such as antithrombin and protein C.¹¹ Thrombophilia can be acquired through factors such as cancer, chemotherapy, oral contraceptives, pregnancy, central obesity and heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT). Cancer, for example, can induce thrombophilia through producing procoagulant proteins or releasing microparticles that lead to hypercoagulable states;^{16,17} oral contraceptives can result in hyperestrogenemia, which increases synthesis of procoagulant proteins and decreases synthesis of anticoagulant and fibrinolytic proteins.¹⁸

1.5 Pathophysiology of DVT

DVTs arise disproportionately in the lower extremities in comparison to the upper extremities; it has been shown that 96% of DVTs manifest in the lower extremities while 4% manifest in the upper extremities.¹⁹ In the lower extremities, a majority of DVTs originate in the calf.²⁰ However, many of these are asymptomatic, as 88% of lower extremity DVTs that are symptomatic, involve more proximal vasculature of the leg.²⁰ Furthermore, DVTs that involve the proximal veins lead to a higher rate of recurrent VTEs.²¹

Within the veins themselves, a majority of DVTs form in the cusps of the valves.²² This occurs because the avascular venous valve environment (lacking of blood vessels) promotes fibrin formation. Due to its avascular nature, coupled with reduced oxygenated blood flow in the veins, the valvular endothelium is predisposed to be hypoxemic. This hypoxemic environment causes the endothelium to express adhesion molecules that attract leukocytes, which transfer tissue factor to the endothelium.²³ As visited previously, tissue factor will bind with factor VIIa to begin the extrinsic pathway of the coagulation cascade, forming fibrin. If a clot is not resolved, it eventually becomes incorporated as part of the vessel wall and a layer of endothelial cells form over it through re-endothelization.²³ This incorporation, known as organization, allows for blood flow to resume but destroys the valves and causes scarring of the veins.²⁴ The resulting complication is PTS due to this scarring as well as venous reflux that results from the diminishment of valvular function.²⁴

1.6 Risk Factors of Deep Vein Thrombosis

Risk factors for DVT have been well documented and encompass environmental and heritable factors.^{9,25-27} Independent risk factors include high BMI,²⁸ trauma or fracture,²⁵ active

cancer with^{25,29} or without²⁵ chemotherapy, major surgery,²⁵ hospitalization for an acute medical illness,²⁶ nursing home confinement,²⁶ neurological disease with leg paresis,⁴ pregnancy or postpartum²⁷ and oral contraceptive use.³⁰ Other independent risk factors of DVT include central venous catheterization,²⁶ transvenous pacemaker,²⁶ prior superficial vein thrombosis,²⁵ increased baseline plasma fibrin D-dimer³¹ and family history of VTE.³² Furthermore, sex, age and ethnicity play a role in the incidence of DVT; male sex and age above 60 years,³³ as well African American individuals,³⁴ have been shown to have higher incidence rates. Conversely, some attributes have been shown to lower the risk of DVT. These include having chronic liver disease²⁵ and taking HMG-Coenzyme A reductase inhibitors,³⁵ although the mechanisms of their protective effects remain unclear.

Heritable traits are often risk factors for DVT. A study in European populations demonstrated that Factor V Leiden and prothrombin gene mutation, with a prevalence of 3-7% and 1-2%, respectively, are the most common heritable disorders.³⁶ Other significant heritable thrombophilia pathologies include antithrombin deficiency, protein C and protein S deficiency.³⁶

Typically, multiple risk factors affect an individual, rather than a single isolated factor; however, high-VTE risk surgeries, cancer and immobilization are key risk factors that profoundly influence the societal toll of DVT and require further attention. Neurosurgery, knee or hip arthroplasty, abdominal pelvic surgery for cancer, renal transplantation and cardiovascular surgery, have all been deemed "high-risk" VTE inducing procedures.³⁷ In cancer patients, VTE is the second leading cause of death.³⁸ Furthermore, cancer patients contribute up to 20% of VTEs in the community.²⁶ Additionally, cancer patients have a two- to three-fold risk of a recurrent VTE, compared to patients who do not have cancer.³⁹ In hospitals and nursing homes, the risk of VTE is 100 times greater than that of community residents.⁴⁰ The incidence of VTE in hospitals and nursing homes is almost 60%,⁴⁰ where immobilization is often a contributing factor.¹⁵ Together with surgery, immobilization has been shown to account for 15% of VTEs.⁴¹ Furthermore, the impacts of immobilization are not exclusively restricted to individuals in health care settings. Long-distance flights (eight or more hours) have a two- to four-fold increase in DVT risk, particularly when other risk factors are present.⁴²

As knowledge regarding DVT risk factors has grown tremendously over the past few decades, better preventative measures can be taken to reduce the incidence of DVT. However, a third to a half of DVT cases still remain unlinked to a cause,⁴³ making DVT a rather insidious problem to treat. Furthermore, even in groups that have been identified as high risk, prevention measures are still suboptimal. In arthroplasty patients, with current VTE prophylaxis, 1 out of 100 patients with partial knee and 1 in 200 patients with hip arthroplasty develop a symptomatic VTE prior to hospital discharge.⁴⁴ Moreover, in cancer patients, the incidence of DVT is expected to increase as patients live longer and take on more treatment protocols, despite better preventative measures than in past.⁴⁵ DVT's subtlety, its increasing likelihood to increase in prevalence in high-risk groups and its ability to lead to potentially fatal PEs, affirm the need for new prophylactic interventions that are suitable to a variety of users.

1.7 Current Methods of Prophylaxis for DVT

1.7.1 Overview of Prophylactic Methods for DVT

Designing interventions for prophylaxis rather than reactionary approaches is imperative for reducing the incidence of DVT and the impact of its complications. This section provides an overview of current methods of DVT prophylaxis including anticoagulants and mechanical prophylactic methods (including graduated compression stockings, intermittent pneumatic compression and neuromuscular electrical stimulation).

1.7.2 Anticoagulants for DVT Prophylaxis

Anticoagulants are a major pillar in DVT prophylaxis.¹³ They serve to inhibit different aspects of the coagulation cascade depending on the type of anticoagulant, moving the balance of hemorrhage and thrombosis away from thrombosis and towards hemorrhage. In general, anticoagulants reduce the chances of clotting, but major bleeding risks are a significant limitation of this intervention. This section will discuss the most imperative anticoagulants, examining their mechanisms of action, indications and contraindications to use.

Warfarin, an orally administered anticoagulant, blocks the regeneration of vitamin K(1) epoxide, thus preventing synthesis of vitamin K-dependent clotting factors (factors II, VII, IX and X) and secondary hemostasis.⁴⁶ Warfarin is an effective method of DVT prophylaxis, resulting in a 21% lower incidence after major surgery compared to no prophylaxis.⁴⁷ Furthermore, warfarin reduces the incidence of DVT in those who have a central venous catheter compared to no prophylaxis.⁴⁸ Other warfarin indications include atrial fibrillation and valvular replacements.⁴⁹ However, warfarin therapy has a number of challenges. When first administered, warfarin requires overlap with heparin anticoagulants because it takes several days for it to impact coagulation. Furthermore, warfarin therapy requires constant monitoring to titrate its dosage to maintain blood coagulability between 2.0-3.0 (based on the international normalized ratio), which can be taxing to the patient and medical staff.⁵⁰ Lastly, warfarin can have interactions with many medications and foods.⁵¹

Heparins are an injectable class of anticoagulants, with sub-classes including

unfractionated heparin (UFH), low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) and fondaparinux. UFH inhibits factor Xa and thrombin, while LMWH and fondaparinux preferentially inhibit factor X to prevent fibrin formation. UFH is administered intravenously, while LMWH and fondaparinux are administered subcutaneously. UFH requires dose adjustments and monitoring while LMWH does not require monitoring and can be administered at a constant dosage.¹³

Heparins are effective in reducing the incidence of VTE.⁵²⁻⁵⁶ In a randomized controlled trial, Bergqvist et al.⁵⁷ reported that LMWH significantly reduced DVT incidence by 21%, compared to the placebo group in hip arthroplasty patients. Furthermore, a meta-analysis of randomized trials in general surgery showed a significant reduction in asymptomatic DVT with LMWH use compared to placebo and no treatment.⁵⁸ Turpie et al.⁵⁹ performed a meta-analysis of four randomized, double-blind studies, and showed that fondaparinux can be even more effective than LMWH in reducing the incidence of VTE in orthopedic patients. Although, LMWH has been shown to be a more efficacious and safe treatment than UFH,⁶⁰ UFH is indicated for patients undergoing thrombolysis and for severe renal impairment, due to its shorter half-life, ease of monitoring and ability to immediately reverse its effects with protamine.¹³

Despite the consistent demonstrated effectiveness of heparins, one of the major complications of these anticoagulants is heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT). HIT is where IgG antibodies bind to heparin/platelet complexes and produce a potentially dangerous hypercoagulable state.⁶¹ The absolute risk for HIT with UFH has been shown to be 2.6% and 0.2% with LMWH.⁶² In such a scenario, fondaparinux or other non-heparin anticoagulants are recommended for prophylactic therapy.⁶³

Direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs) were introduced over the past decade for treatment of VTE. This anticoagulant class most notably consists of thrombin inhibitors (e.g., dabigatran) and factor Xa inhibitors (e.g. rivaroxaban, apixaban and edoxaban). DOACs are administered at fixed doses without need for monitoring and have little interaction with medications or food, thus overcoming many of the hurdles presented by vitamin K antagonists like warfarin.⁶⁴ A number of large phase 3 trials have shown that DOACs are as effective as vitamin K antagonists in preventing VTEs and have relatively lower clinically relevant major bleeding risks compared to vitamin K antagonists.⁶⁵⁻⁷⁰

Despite the demonstrated effectiveness of anticoagulants in lowering the incidence of DVT, hemorrhagic complications can prevent individuals from using anticoagulants for prophylaxis. Randomized controlled trials that compared a variety of anticoagulants to placebo, have shown that major bleeding rates are between 0.2-5.6%, when administered for DVT prophylaxis.⁷¹ Those of highest concern for major bleeding episodes include greater than 65 years of age, history of gastrointestinal bleeding, anemia, history of stroke, diabetes, renal insufficiency, hypertension, malignancy and previous VTE.⁷²⁻⁷⁵ Risks of bleeding often challenge clinicians in determining the cost-benefit of these medications where bleeding risks are a concern, making them less ideal solutions in certain scenarios.⁷⁶ To summarize, anticoagulants are an established modality of DVT prophylaxis in many applications. Yet, their limiting factor is the risk of major bleeding, making their use impractical in certain patient populations, thus creating demand for other methods of DVT prophylaxis.

1.7.3 Mechanical Methods for DVT Prophylaxis

1.7.3.1 Graduated Compression Stockings for DVT Prophylaxis

Graduated compression stockings (GCS) are wearable garments, donned on the legs of users in efforts to prevent PTS, leg edema, chronic venous insufficiency (CVI) and DVT. Although the exact mechanism to prevent DVT and resulting complications by GCS is still unclear, it is thought that the application of a graded circumferential pressure gradient on the leg, distally to proximally, allows blood from the superficial venous system to reach the deep venous system through perforator veins, increasing the volume of flow and reducing stasis.⁷⁷

Proponents of GCS use for DVT prophylaxis often relied on its ability to prevent PTS,^{78,79} which is a sequalae of 50-60% of DVTs. Although prevention of DVT sequelae with GCS use is valid, GCS' ability to prevent DVT formation has demonstrated inconclusive incidence, as posited by a recent Cochrane Review.⁸⁰ This study⁸⁰ shows that GCS prevents DVT in general and orthopedic surgery settings, but is inconclusively effective in other settings and has not shown to reduce the risk of PEs.

The CLOTS trial 1, a multicenter, randomized controlled trial, which evaluated the risk of DVT development in stroke patients with GCS, further draws uncertainty surrounding the effectiveness of GCS use for DVT prophylaxis.⁸¹ This study⁸¹ reported a non-significant absolute reduction in DVT risk with GCS use. In fact, GCS use lead to more complications compared to non-use, such as skin breaks, ulcers, blister and skin necrosis. Furthermore, the CLOTS trial 2,⁸² demonstrated that thigh-length GCS, while potentially a form of GCS with less compliance from patients, was superior to below-knee GCSs in reducing DVT incidence. Due to the lack of conclusive evidence of GCS in lowering the incidence of DVT and its potential for complications, a requirement for other mechanical interventions is needed.

1.7.3.2 Intermittent Pneumatic Compression for DVT Prophylaxis

Another commonplace mechanical method for DVT prophylaxis is intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC). IPC consists of inflatable pads that wrap around the leg, which inflate and deflate cyclically, to exert intermittently circumferential pressure on the leg and a pressure gradient from distal to proximal muscles.⁸³ Its mechanism of action to prevent DVT remains unclear,⁸⁴ but it is thought that the external compression increases blood flow in an attempt to prevent venous stasis.⁸³ Furthermore, an increase in fibrinolytic activity may play a role.⁸⁵

The reduction of DVT incidence via IPC has been well documented.⁸⁶⁻⁹⁰ Urbankov et al.⁸⁸ in a meta-analysis, demonstrated that IPC can reduce the risk of DVT by 60% compared to no prophylaxis including anticoagulants. In the CLOTS trial 3,⁸⁹ a multicenter randomized, controlled trial to assess IPC in people who have had stroke, IPC reduced the risk of DVT by 3.6% compared to no IPC. Other studies have shown IPC to be effective in DVT prevention in post-operative patients,⁹⁰ and when used synergistically with anticoagulants.^{83,91}

However, a major drawback of IPC is that its effectiveness in DVT prevention is highly dependent on its user compliance.⁹² IPC user compliance has been substandard in the past due to itchiness, excessive heat, sweating, lack of portability and excessive noise.⁹³⁻⁹⁶ Some have investigated the potential of portable IPC devices in an effort to improve patient compliance,⁹⁶ but these systems are still in early development. Furthermore, IPC has limited effectiveness in specific high-risk populations, which include cancer, greater than 60 years of age and those with previous history of DVT.⁹⁷ Lastly, IPC can lead to severe complications such as peroneal nerve palsy and neurovascular compression, although rarely.^{98,99}

1.7.3.3 Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation for DVT Prophylaxis

Although anticoagulants and IPC have shown effectiveness in DVT prevention, hemorrhaging risks and low patient compliance remain consistent concerns. Therefore, an effective, patient compliant, non-hemorrhaging modality for DVT prophylaxis is needed. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) may provide an alternative modality that could fulfill this requirement. NMES can be defined as the application of current to the skeletal muscle nerve branches via electrodes attached to the skin, to produce muscular contractions.¹⁰⁰

NMES for rehabilitation is not new. Previous applications of NMES include prevention of deep tissue injury, a dangerous class of pressure ulcers,¹⁰¹ restoration of motor loss in stroke populations,¹⁰² prevention of muscle wasting in seniors¹⁰³ and increase of exercise tolerance in COPD,¹⁰⁴ among many other applications.

Utilizing NMES for DVT prophylaxis is also not a new phenomenon. Some of the first studies documented date back to 1964, and were performed by Doran et al.¹⁰⁵ who posited that NMES can prevent venous stasis in perioperative settings. However, its use was limited at that time due to the pain it induced in users.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ Over the past two decades, significant strides have been made to develop miniaturized NMES devices, electrodes and stimulation paradigms that improve user comfort.¹⁰⁸ These will be explored further in this section. Other potential benefits of NMES when used for DVT prophylaxis, include reducing pain associated with intermittent claudication,¹⁰⁹ improving orthostatic limb edema,¹¹⁰ preventing recurrent DVTs when used for PTS treatment,¹¹¹ improving microvascular circulation^{112,113} and improving lymphatic function with associated lymphedema.¹¹⁴

1.7.3.3.1 Physiology of NMES for DVT Prophylaxis

To induce voluntary muscle contractions, the motor cortex sends commands to the spinal cord in the form of action potentials.¹¹⁵ These in turn result in action potentials generated in the motor neurons innervating the muscles of interest. These action potentials propagate through the motor axons towards the neuromuscular junction, where they cause the release of acetylcholine. The release of acetylcholine generates action potentials that propagate along the muscle fiber membrane and cause the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Calcium enables actin and myosin to bind and slide against one another, producing a contraction and generating force.

With surface electrical stimulation applied to peripheral nervous system, the electrical stimulus creates an electrochemical environment that produces an action potential in the axons of peripheral nerves, instead of in the cell bodies of motor neurons.¹¹⁵ The action potentials then propagate to the neuromuscular junction producing the excitation-contraction coupling described above. Innervated muscles are more easily excited by activating their corresponding nerve. However, denervated muscle fibers can also be activated through electrical stimulation, but because nerves are more excitable than muscle fibers, much higher stimulation amplitudes are needed to activate muscle fibers directly. Pain becomes a limiting factor with higher currents and voltages; thus, direct muscle stimulation is not typically performed.

Muscular contractions of the calf – induced voluntarily or via electrical stimulation – act as a physiological pump that plays a vital role in enhancing venous return from the lower limbs to the heart.¹¹⁶ It does this through generating up to 250 mmHg of intramuscular pressure, compared to 9-15 mmHg in a relaxed state.¹¹⁶ These pressure gradients lead to rapid movement of blood flow from the deep veins of the calf, to the more proximal areas of the lower extremities, preventing venous stasis and therefore DVT formation.

However, differences between voluntary and NMES-induced contractions exist. In voluntary contractions, muscle fibers are recruited in order of size – the size principle.¹¹⁵ This principle states that muscle fibers will be recruited starting from the smallest motor units, followed by activation of the larger motor units [a motor unit is comprised of a motor neuron and the muscle fibers that it innervates]. In NMES-induced contractions, recruitment order is reversed as larger motor units are often preferentially recruited. These larger motor units are more susceptible to fatigue; therefore, making muscular fatigue a potential drawback with NMES if stimulation is delivered frequently. Furthermore, NMES-induced contractions are less asynchronous, another potential factor leading to more fatigue when compared with voluntary contractions.¹¹⁵

1.7.3.3.2 Muscles Targeted by NMES for DVT Prophylaxis

Prevention of DVT via NMES is thought to stem from its activation of the calf-muscle pump, causing an increase in venous flow and thus reducing venous stasis – one of the three components of Virchow's triad.¹¹⁷ Stimulation that targets the posterior aspects of the leg, compared to anterior muscles demonstrated greater venous volume emptying of the popliteal vein, and increases in peak venous velocity from baseline in the femoral vein.^{113,118} To better target these muscles, Lyons et al.¹¹⁹ demonstrated that the optimal site for NMES electrode placement involves placing the cathode high on the calf, just distal to the end of the proximal muscle head, and placement of the anode "well above the Achilles tendon."¹¹⁹ Electrodes should be bigger (around 81 cm² compared to smaller sizes of 9 or 36 cm²) to reduce pain with use.¹²⁰ Other efforts have investigated stimulation of the nerve directly to improve venous flow and user comfort instead of delivering stimulation to the skeletal nerve branches; however, the effect on venous flow and user comfort have been inconclusive.^{121,122}

1.7.3.3.3 NMES Stimulation Parameters and their Effect on Hemodynamic Characteristics

NMES can induce either one of two types of contractions: tetanic or twitch contractions. Tetanic contractions are sustained muscle contractions that are evoked when the motor neurons conduct action potentials at a high frequency, while twitch contractions are generated by a single action potential and fire at a slow enough rate, such that, summation between action potential does not occur.¹⁰⁰ Tetanic contractions of the calf-muscles have demonstrated significantly higher increases in venous ejection volume¹²³ and in peak venous velocity,¹²⁴ compared to single-twitch contractions, making tetanic contractions more effective from a hemodynamics perspective.

Parameters related to the stimulation waveform can also be modified to ensure sufficient hemodynamic performance of NMES, while minimizing discomfort and muscle fatigue. To best achieve this, the following has been recommended from literature for NMES waveform design: biphasic, charge-balanced waveforms have been shown to be most comfortable for users;¹⁰⁰ a pulse-with of 300 µs has been shown to be the most suitable for increases in venous flow, without comprising comfort for users;¹²⁵ frequency of each bout of stimulation between 20-40 Hz maximizes the increases in venous flow while being cognizant that higher frequencies can fatigue the stimulated muscles faster;^{119,125} an "OFF" time of at least four seconds between stimulations is recommended to allow for muscle recuperation, adequate venous refilling and to prevent muscle fatigue.^{119,126}

One of the most critical, yet, least studied components of NMES parameters is the stimulation amplitude. Although a positive correlation between stimulation amplitude and

popliteal peak venous velocity,^{127,128} as well as with the strength of induced muscular contractions,¹²⁹ have been demonstrated, a clear identification of the best stimulation amplitude levels to increase venous flow is lacking. Therefore, an opportunity exists to better direct future NMES interventions by quantifying the stimulation amplitude needed, a factor that was investigated in this work.

1.7.3.3.4 Reduction of DVT Incidence with NMES

The ability of NMES to lower the incidence of DVT has been studied in post-operative settings as early as 1967, showing a 12.7% absolute reduction in incidence and a 61% relative reduction in incidence compared to no prophylaxis.^{106,107,130} When compared to heparin, NMES reduces the incidence of DVT in select types of surgeries.¹³¹ Certain clinical scenarios, such as total knee arthroplasty with perioperative application,¹³²and in neurosurgical patients when used post-operatively in conjunction with anticoagulants,¹³³ have demonstrated effectiveness of NMES. Effectiveness was also demonstrated with perioperative use in patients with malignancy.¹²³ However, in other cases, such as in trauma patients¹³⁴ and in patients undergoing major upper abdominal or thoraco-abdominal procedures,¹³⁵ NMES was ineffective.

To date, the potential of NMES to prevent DVT in large, diverse, populations have not been tested. Moreover, the inconsistency of NMES application between studies had made it difficult to ascertain the effectiveness of NMES in reducing the incidence of DVT.¹¹⁷ Although, NMES is likely to lower the risk of DVT compared to no prophylaxis,¹³⁶ comparisons to other interventions cannot be made with the current level of evidence. Thus, calls have been made for adequately powered, high-quality, randomized, controlled trials to provide guidance on the potential effectiveness of NMES.¹³⁶ 1.7.3.3.5 An Example of Commercial NMES Devices for the Prevention of DVT

Recognizing the opportunity that NMES could be an effective prophylactic method for DVT and the downfalls of existing mechanical prophylaxis, commercial NMES devices have been developed. Most notable of these devices are the VEINOPLUS®¹⁰⁸ and the gekoTM.¹³⁷ The VEINOPLUS® delivers brief (50ms-long) trains of stimuli up to 120 times per minute, stimulating the gastrocnemius muscles,¹⁰⁸ while the gekoTM delivers a single stimulus pulse, 60 times per minute, and stimulates the common peroneal nerve that innervates the tibialis anterior muscles.¹³⁷

These devices have been shown to lead to significant increases in venous flow of the popliteal vein, at comfortable levels of stimulation, mainly in healthy persons.^{108,138} Usage in patient populations have shown similar results, including usage in persons with leg casts¹³⁷ and chronic post-stroke (>6 months) persons.¹³⁹ Compared to other modes of mechanical prophylaxis, the gekoTM can produce similar increases in popliteal peak venous velocity from baseline as IPC, at comfortable levels of stimulation for the user.^{93,138} Furthermore, the gekoTM has demonstrated that NMES is already capable of being an established method of DVT prophylaxis, as implemented in England.¹⁴⁰ In this setting, the gekoTM has been recommended for "people for whom other methods of prophylaxis are impractical or contraindicated and have a high risk of VTE," ¹⁴⁰ and has been shown to reduce the cost of a DVT by €170, compared to no prophylaxis.¹⁴⁰

Despite the advances and promising performance of these technologies, the approach and the translational potential to everyday clinical settings of these devices, is flawed. Firstly, by stimulating every second in the case of the gekoTM, or up to 120 beats per minute in the case of the VEINOPLUS®, these devices focus on imitating a heartbeat rate. Not only is mimicking the

rate of a heartbeat an incorrect premise for the prevention of DVT,¹⁰⁶ stimulating too often in a clinical setting where 24 hours of use is required, would likely induce muscle fatigue. This is particularly true in the case of the VEINOPLUS® which uses pulse trains.¹⁰⁸ Secondly, because the gekoTM not only uses twitch contractions, but also stimulates the tibialis anterior muscle, only 26% of the muscle mass in the leg is activated during stimulation, failing to empty the deep veins of the posterior compartment adequately, in contrast to what usually occurs when walking.¹⁴¹ Lastly, because devices such as the VEINOPLUS® stimulate the gastrocnemius muscle repeatedly without keeping the foot in a neutral position after each induced contraction, an increase in spasticity and/or contractures could result especially in populations with neurological conditions such as stroke, which could limit user acceptance. Therefore, a new stimulation paradigm that can mitigate the limitations in current NMES devices and provide more effective and user-compliant systems is needed. Such systems could circumvent the problems associated with current anticoagulant and other mechanical interventions.

1.8 Intermittent Electrical Stimulation as an Alternative Form of DVT Prophylaxis

The Mushahwar Lab has been investigating a novel stimulation paradigm, intermittent electrical stimulation (IES), for the use of DVT prophylaxis. IES differs from previous stimulation paradigms by administering stimulation once every 3 minutes, with stimulation delivered to the gastrocnemius and the tibialis anterior muscles in a sequential fashion. By stimulating every 3 minutes, compared to other interventions which typically stimulate 60 - 120 times a minute, we hypothesize that IES is less likely to induce muscle fatigue. Furthermore, by stimulating the gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscles sequentially, IES will bring the foot back to a neutral position after each cycle of stimulation, stretching the gastrocnemius muscle to

avoid contractures and to possibly prevent spasticity in people who have neurological conditions.

1.9 Overview of Masters Work

1.9.1 Masters Scope

The focus of my thesis work was to investigate IES' effectiveness in increasing venous flow in neurologically intact and post-stroke persons. The main goal was to determine the strength of muscular contractions needed to elicit sufficient increases in venous flow in the popliteal and femoral veins in neurologically intact people and the popliteal vein in post-stroke people.

1.9.2 Stimulation Paradigm

The stimulation paradigm chosen included a 1s "ON" stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle, followed by a 1s "ON" stimulation of the tibialis anterior muscle, repeated every 3 minutes. One second for each muscle was chosen to ensure enough time for an adequate tetanic contraction to form without inducing muscle cramping. Parameters of stimulation chosen were biphasic, 17.5 Hz frequency and 300 µs pulse width. The stimulation amplitude of the gastrocnemius muscle was modulated throughout the experiment to produce recruitment curves in each subject. A recruitment curve examines the relationship between stimulation amplitude and venous velocity, and force of contractions induced with stimulation and venous velocity. This was conducted to elucidate the amount of contraction needed to yield sufficient increases in venous flow with IES.

1.9.3 Hypothesis

I hypothesized that:

- IES induces significant increases in peak venous velocity relative to rest-flow in the popliteal vein of typical healthy persons at low levels of muscular contraction.
- 2) IES induces significant increases in peak venous velocity relative to rest-flow in the *femoral* vein of typical healthy persons at low levels of muscular contraction.
- In post-stroke patients with atrophied muscles, IES induces significant increases relative to rest-flow in popliteal peak venous velocity.
- 4) IES is comfortable for use by typical and post-stroke persons.

Null hypotheses:

- IES does not produce sufficient increase in peak venous velocity for typical and poststroke peoples.
- 2) The use of IES is uncomfortable.

Chapter 2 of my thesis describes the experiments I carried out to validate my hypotheses, and the results obtained, accompanied with their significance. Chapter 3 outlines the conclusions of my work, along with future directions for the clinical adoption of IES as a method for DVT prophylaxis.



Figure 1-1: Overview of steps involved in primary hemostasis.

Primary stasis involves four steps (vasoconstriction, platelet adhesion, platelet activation and platelet aggregation) which enable formation of a platelet plug at the site of endothelial injury of the blood vessel.



Figure 1-2: Overview of steps involved in secondary hemostasis, the coagulation cascade.

The coagulation cascade operates to transform fibrinogen into fibrin to reinforce the pre-existing platelet plug formed in primary hemostasis and form a stable clot.

1.11 References

 Mayo Clinic Staff. Deep vein thrombosis - Symptoms and causes. 2018; Available from: <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/deep-vein-thrombosis/symptoms-causes/syc-</u> 20352557. [cited Jun 24,2019].

 Raskob GE, Angchaisuksiri P, Blanco AN, Buller H, Gallus A, Hunt BJ, et al. Thrombosis: A major contributor to global disease burden. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2014;34(11):2363-2371.

3. Thrombosis Canada. Deep Vein Thrombosis: Treatment. 2013; Available from: http://thrombosiscanada.ca/guides/pdfs/DVT_Treatment.pdf. [cited Jun 25, 2019]

4. Heit JA, Mohr DN, Silverstein MD, Petterson TM, O'fallon WM, Melton LJ. Predictors of recurrence after deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-based cohort study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(6):761-768.

5. Vazquez SR, Kahn SR. Postthrombotic syndrome. Circulation 2010;121(8):e217-219.

6. Kahn SR, Comerota AJ, Cushman M, Evans NS, Ginsberg JS, Goldenberg NA, et al. The postthrombotic syndrome: Evidence-based prevention, diagnosis, and treatment strategies: A scientific statement from the american heart association. Circulation 2014;130(18):1636-1661.

7. Grosse SD, Nelson RE, Nyarko KA, Richardson LC, Raskob GE. The economic burden of incident venous thromboembolism in the united states: A review of estimated attributable healthcare costs. Thromb Res 2016;137:3-10.
8. Rahimtoola A, Bergin JD. Acute pulmonary embolism: An update on diagnosis and management. Curr Probl Cardiol 2005;30(2):61-114.

9. Heit J, Spencer F, White R. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2016;41(1):3-14.

10. Goldhaber SZ, Visani L, De Rosa M. Acute pulmonary embolism: Clinical outcomes in the international cooperative pulmonary embolism registry (ICOPER). Lancet 1999;353(9162):1386-1389.

11. Wong E, Chaudhry S. Venous thromboembolism (VTE). 2018; Available from: http://www.pathophys.org/vte/. [cited Jun 30, 2019]

 Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis: A multicausal disease. Lancet 1999;353(9159):1167-1173.

13. Di Nisio M, van Es N, Büller HR. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. Lancet 2016;388(10063):3060-3073.

14. Kuipers S, Schreijer A, Cannegieter SC, Büller HR, Rosendaal FR, Middeldorp S. Travel and venous thrombosis: A systematic review. J Intern Med 2007;262(6):615-634.

15. Engbers MJ, Vlieg AVH, Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis in the elderly: Incidence, risk factors and risk groups. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8(10):2105-2112.

16. Rickles FR. Mechanisms of cancer-induced thrombosis in cancer. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2006;35(1-2):103-110.

17. Falanga A, Panova-Noeva M, Russo L. Procoagulant mechanisms in tumour cells. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2009;22(1):49-60.

Tchaikovski SN, Rosing J. Mechanisms of estrogen-induced venous thromboembolism.
 Thromb Res 2010;126(1):5-11.

19. Muñoz FJ, Mismetti P, Poggio R, Valle R, Barrón M, Guil M, et al. Clinical outcome of patients with upper-extremity deep vein thrombosis: Results from the RIETE registry. Chest 2008;133(1):143-148.

20. Cogo A, Lensing AW, Prandoni P, Hirsh J. Distribution of thrombosis in patients with symptomatic deep vein thrombosis: Implications for simplifying the diagnostic process with compression ultrasound. Arch Intern Med 1993;153(24):2777-2780.

21. Douketis JD, Crowther MA, Foster GA, Ginsberg JS. Does the location of thrombosis determine the risk of disease recurrence in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis? Am J Med 2001;110(7):515-519.

22. Wolberg AS, Rosendaal FR, Weitz JI, Jaffer IH, Agnelli G, Baglin T, et al. Venous thrombosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2015;1:15006.

23. Line BR. Pathophysiology and diagnosis of deep venous thrombosis. InSeminars in nuclear medicine 2001;31(2):90-101.

24. Morris TA. Natural history of venous thromboembolism. Crit Care Clin 2011;27(4):869-884.

25. Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'fallon WM, Melton LJ. Risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(6):809-815.

26. Heit JA, O'fallon WM, Petterson TM, Lohse CM, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, et al. Relative impact of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-based study. Arch Intern Med 2002;162(11):1245-1248.

27. Samama M. An epidemiologic study of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis in medical outpatients: The sirius study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(22):3415-3420.

28. Rodger MA, Kahn SR, Wells PS, Anderson DA, Chagnon I, Le Gal G, et al. Identifying unprovoked thromboembolism patients at low risk for recurrence who can discontinue anticoagulant therapy. CMAJ 2008;179(5):417-426.

29. Blom JW, Vanderschoot J, Oostindier MJ, Osanto S, Van Der Meer F, Rosendaal FR. Incidence of venous thrombosis in a large cohort of 66 329 cancer patients: Results of a record linkage study. J Thromb Haemost 2006;4(3):529-535.

30. Barsoum MK, Heit JA, Ashrani AA, Leibson CL, Petterson TM, Bailey KR. Is progestin an independent risk factor for incident venous thromboembolism? A population-based case-control study. Thromb Res 2010;126(5):373-378.

31. Cushman M, Folsom AR, Wang L, Aleksic N, Rosamond WD, Tracy RP, et al. Fibrin fragment D-dimer and the risk of future venous thrombosis. Blood 2003;101(4):1243-1248.

32. Zöller B, Ohlsson H, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Familial risk of venous thromboembolism in first-, second-and third-degree relatives: A nationwide family study in sweden. Thromb Haemost 2013;109(03):458-463.

33. Silverstein MD, Heit JA, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'fallon WM, Melton LJ. Trends in the incidence of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A 25-year population-based study. Arch Intern Med 1998;158(6):585-593.

34. Zakai NA, McClure LA, Judd SE, Safford MM, Folsom AR, Lutsey PL, et al. Racial and regional differences in venous thromboembolism in the united states in 3 cohorts. Circulation 2014;129(14):1502-1509.

35. Lacut K, Oger E, Le Gal G, Couturaud F, Louis S, Leroyer C, et al. Statins but not fibrates are associated with a reduced risk of venous thromboembolism: A hospital- based case–control study. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 2004;18(4):477-482.

MacCallum P, Bowles L, Keeling D. Diagnosis and management of heritable thrombophilias.
 BMJ 2014;349:g4387.

37. White RH, Zhou H, Romano PS. Incidence of symptomatic venous thromboembolism after different elective or urgent surgical procedures. Thromb Haemost 2003;90(09):446-455.

38. Khorana AA, Francis CW, Culakova E, Kuderer NM, Lyman GH. Thromboembolism is a leading cause of death in cancer patients receiving outpatient chemotherapy. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(3):632-634.

39. Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Piccioli A, Bernardi E, Simioni P, Girolami B, et al. Recurrent venous thromboembolism and bleeding complications during anticoagulant treatment in patients with cancer and venous thrombosis. Blood 2002;100(10):3484-3488.

40. Heit JA, Melton III LJ, Lohse CM, Petterson TM, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, O'Fallon WM. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients vs community residents. InMayo Clinic Proceedings 2001;76(11):1102-1110.

41. Jensvoll H, Severinsen MT, Hammerstrøm J, Brækkan SK, Kristensen SR, Cannegieter SC, et al. Existing data sources in clinical epidemiology: The scandinavian thrombosis and cancer cohort. J Clin Epidemiol 2015;7:401.

42. Scurr JH, Machin SJ, Bailey-King S, Mackie IJ, McDonald S, Smith PDC. Frequency and prevention of symptomless deep-vein thrombosis in long-haul flights: A randomised trial. Lancet 2001;357(9267):1485-1489.

43. Kearon C, Ageno W, Cannegieter SC, Cosmi B, Geersing G, Kyrle PA, et al. Categorization of patients as having provoked or unprovoked venous thromboembolism: Guidance from the SSC of ISTH. J Thromb Haemost 2016;14(7):1480-1483.

44. Januel J, Chen G, Ruffieux C, Quan H, Douketis JD, Crowther MA, et al. Symptomatic inhospital deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism following hip and knee arthroplasty among patients receiving recommended prophylaxis: A systematic review. JAMA 2012;307(3):294-303. 45. Timp JF, Braekkan SK, Versteeg HH, Cannegieter SC. Epidemiology of cancer-associated venous thrombosis. Blood 2013;122(10):1712-1723.

46. Bell RG, Sadowski JA, Matschiner JT. Mechanism of action of warfarin. warfarin and metabolism of vitamin K1. Biochemistry 1972;11(10):1959-1961.

47. Poller L, McKernan A, Thomson JM, Elstein M, Hirsch PJ, Jones JB. Fixed minidose warfarin: A new approach to prophylaxis against venous thrombosis after major surgery. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987;295(6609):1309-1312.

48. Bern MM, Lokich JJ, Wallach SR, Bothe A, Benotti PN, Arkin CF, et al. Very low doses of warfarin can prevent thrombosis in central venous catheters: A randomized prospective trial. Ann Intern Med 1990;112(6):423-428.

49. Helin TA, Joutsi- Korhonen L, Asmundela H, Niemi M, Orpana A, Lassila R. Warfarin dose requirement in patients having severe thrombosis or thrombophilia. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2019.

50. Sheth SB, DiCicco RA, Hursting MJ, Montague T, Jorkasky DK. Interpreting the international normalized ratio (INR) in individuals receiving argatroban and warfarin. Thromb Haemost 2001;85(03):435-440.

51. Holbrook AM, Pereira JA, Labiris R, McDonald H, Douketis JD, Crowther M, et al. Systematic overview of warfarin and its drug and food interactions. Arch Intern Med 2005;165(10):1095-1106. 52. Hull R, Delmore T, Genton E, Hirsh J, Gent M, Sackett D, et al. Warfarin sodium versus low-dose heparin in the long-term treatment of venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med 1979;301(16):855-858.

53. Hirsh J. Heparin. N Engl J Med 1991;324(22):1565-1574.

54. Hirsh J, Levine MN. Low molecular weight heparin. Blood 1992;79(1):1-17.

55. Lagerstedt C, Fagher B, Olsson C, Öqvist B, Albrechtsson U. Need for long-term anticoagulant treatment in symptomatic calf-vein thrombosis. Lancet 1985;326(8454):515-518.

56. Eriksson BI, Bauer KA, Lassen MR, Turpie AG. Fondaparinux compared with enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after hip-fracture surgery. N Engl J Med 2001;345(18):1298-1304.

57. Bergqvist D, Benoni G, Björgell O, Fredin H, Hedlundh U, Nicolas S, et al. Low-molecularweight heparin (enoxaparin) as prophylaxis against venous thromboembolism after total hip replacement. N Engl J Med 1996;335(10):696-700.

58. Mismetti P, Laporte S, Darmon J, Buchmüller A, Decousus H. Meta- analysis of low molecular weight heparin in the prevention of venous thromboembolism in general surgery. Br J Surg 2001;88(7):913-930.

59. Turpie AG, Bauer KA, Eriksson BI, Lassen MR. Fondaparinux vs enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism in major orthopedic surgery: A meta-analysis of 4 randomized double-blind studies. Arch Intern Med 2002;162(16):1833-1840.

60. Castellucci LA, Cameron C, Le Gal G, Rodger MA, Coyle D, Wells PS, et al. Clinical and safety outcomes associated with treatment of acute venous thromboembolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2014;312(11):1122-1135.

61. Warkentin TE, Levine MN, Hirsh J, Horsewood P, Roberts RS, Gent M, et al. Heparininduced thrombocytopenia in patients treated with low-molecular-weight heparin or unfractionated heparin. N Engl J Med 1995;332(20):1330-1336.

62. Martel N, Lee J, Wells PS. Risk for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia with unfractionated and low-molecular-weight heparin thromboprophylaxis: A meta-analysis. Blood 2005;106(8):2710-2715.

63. Linkins L, Dans AL, Moores LK, Bona R, Davidson BL, Schulman S, et al. Treatment and prevention of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis: American college of chest physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2012;141(2):e495S-e530S.

64. van Es N, Coppens M, Schulman S, Middeldorp S, Büller HR. Direct oral anticoagulants compared with vitamin K antagonists for acute venous thromboembolism: Evidence from phase 3 trials. Blood 2014;124(12):1968-1975.

65. Schulman S, Kakkar AK, Goldhaber SZ, Schellong S, Eriksson H, Mismetti P, et al. Treatment of acute venous thromboembolism with dabigatran or warfarin and pooled analysis. Circulation 2014;129(7):764-772. 66. Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, Mismetti P, Schellong S, Eriksson H, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2009;361(24):2342-2352.

67. Hokusai-VTE Investigators. Edoxaban versus warfarin for the treatment of symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2013;369(15):1406-1415.

68. Einstein Investigators. Oral rivaroxaban for symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2010;363(26):2499-2510.

69. Einstein–PE Investigators. Oral rivaroxaban for the treatment of symptomatic pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2012;366(14):1287-1297.

70. Agnelli G, Buller HR, Cohen A, Curto M, Gallus AS, Johnson M, et al. Oral apixaban for the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2013;369(9):799-808.

71. Lloyd NS, Douketis JD, Moinuddin I, Lim W, Crowther MA. Anticoagulant prophylaxis to prevent asymptomatic deep vein thrombosis in hospitalized medical patients: A systematic review and meta- analysis. Thromb Haemost 2008;6(3):405-414.

72. Johnsen SP, Sørensen HT, Mellemkjær L, Blot WJ, Nielsen GL, McLaughlin JK, et al. Hospitalisation for upper gastrointestinal bleeding associated with use of oral anticoagulants. Thromb Haemost 2001;86(08):563-568.

73. Hart RG, Tonarelli SB, Pearce LA. Avoiding central nervous system bleeding during antithrombotic therapy: Recent data and ideas. Stroke 2005;36(7):1588-1593.

74. Palareti G, Legnani C, Lee A, Manotti C, Hirsh J, D'Angelo A, et al. A comparison of the safety and efficacy of oral anticoagulation for the treatment of venous thromboembolic disease in patients with or without malignancy. Thromb Haemost 2000;84(11):805-810.

75. Shoeb M, Fang MC. Assessing bleeding risk in patients taking anticoagulants. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2013;35(3):312-319.

76. Linkins L, Choi PT, Douketis JD. Clinical impact of bleeding in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy for venous thromboembolism. Ann Intern Med 2003;139(11):893.

77. Benkö T, Cooke EA, McNally MA, Mollan R. Graduated compression stockings: Knee length or thigh length. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2001;383:197-203.

78. Brandjes DP, Büller HR, Heijboer H, Huisman MV, de Rijk M, Jagt H, et al. Randomised trial of effect of compression stockings in patients with symptomatic proximal-vein thrombosis. Lancet 1997;349(9054):759-762.

79. Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Prins MH, Frulla M, Marchiori A, Bernardi E, et al. Below-knee elastic compression stockings to prevent the post-thrombotic syndrome: A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2004;141(4):249-256.

80. Sachdeva A, Dalton M, Amaragiri SV, Lees T. Graduated compression stockings for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018(12).

81. CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Effectiveness of thigh-length graduated compression stockings to reduce the risk of deep vein thrombosis after stroke (CLOTS trial 1): A multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009;373(9679):1958-1965.

82. CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Thigh-length versus below-knee stockings for deep venous thrombosis prophylaxis after stroke: A randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2010;153(9):553.

83. Kakkos SK, Caprini JA, Geroulakos G, Nicolaides AN, Stansby G, Reddy DJ, et al. Combined intermittent pneumatic leg compression and pharmacological prophylaxis for prevention of venous thromboembolism. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2016(9).

84. Chen AH, Frangos SG, Kilaru S, Sumpio BE. Intermittent pneumatic compression devices– physiological mechanisms of action. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2001;21(5):383-392.

85. Comerota AJ, Chouhan V, Harada RN, Sun L, Hosking J, Veermansunemi R, et al. The fibrinolytic effects of intermittent pneumatic compression: Mechanism of enhanced fibrinolysis. Ann Surg 1997;226(3):306.

86. Hills NH, Pflug JJ, Jeyasingh K, Boardman L, Calnan JS. Prevention of deep vein thrombosis by intermittent pneumatic compression of calf. Br Med J 1972;1(5793):131-135.

87. Nicolaides AN, e Fernandes JF, Pollock AV. Intermittent sequential pneumatic compression of the legs in the prevention of venous stasis and postoperative deep venous thrombosis. Surgery 1980;87(1):69-76.

88. Urbankova J, Quiroz R, Kucher N, Goldhaber SZ. Intermittent pneumatic compression and deep vein thrombosis prevention. Thromb Haemost 2005;94(12):1181-1185.

89. CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression in reduction of risk of deep vein thrombosis in patients who have had a stroke (CLOTS 3): A multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2013;382(9891):516-524.

90. Pavon JM, Adam SS, Razouki ZA, McDuffie JR, Lachiewicz PF, Kosinski AS, et al.
Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression devices for venous thromboembolism
prophylaxis in high-risk surgical patients: A systematic review. J Arthroplasty 2016;31(2):524532.

91. Turpie AG, Bauer KA, Caprini JA, Comp PC, Gent M, Muntz JE, et al. Fondaparinux combined with intermittent pneumatic compression vs. intermittent pneumatic compression alone for prevention of venous thromboembolism after abdominal surgery: A randomized, double- blind comparison. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(9):1854-1861.

92. Morris RJ, Woodcock JP. Evidence-based compression: Prevention of stasis and deep vein thrombosis. Ann Surg 2004;239(2):162.

93. Broderick BJ, O'Connell S, Moloney S, O'Halloran K, Sheehan J, Quondamatteo F, et al. Comparative lower limb hemodynamics using neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) versus intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC). Physiol Meas 2014;35(9):1849-1859.

94. Comerota AJ, Katz ML, White JV. Why does prophylaxis with external pneumatic compression for deep vein thrombosis fail? Am J Surg 1992;164(3):265-268.

95. Faghri PD, Van Meerdervort HP, Glaser RM, Figoni SF. Electrical stimulation-induced contraction to reduce blood stasis during arthroplasty. IEEE Transactions on Rehabilitation Engineering 1997;5(1):62-69.

96. Froimson MI, Murray TG, Fazekas AF. Venous thromboembolic disease reduction with a portable pneumatic compression device. J Arthroplasty 2009;24(2):310-316.

97. Clarke-Pearson DL, Dodge RK, Synan I, McClelland RC, Maxwell GL. Venous thromboembolism prophylaxis: Patients at high risk to fail intermittent pneumatic compression. Obstet Gynecol 2003;101(1):157-163.

98. Feldman JL, Stout NL, Wanchai A, Stewart BR, Cormier JN, Armer JM. Intermittent pneumatic compression therapy: A systematic review. Lymphology 2012;45(1):13.

99. Lachmann EA, Rook JL, Tunkel R, Nagler W. Complications associated with intermittent pneumatic compression. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1992;73(5):482-485.

100. Baker LL, Wederich C, McNeal DR, Newsam CJ, Waters RL. Neuro muscular electrical stimulation: A practical guide: Los Amigos Research & Education Institute; 2000.

101. Kane A, Warwaruk-Rogers R, Ho C, Chan M, Stein R, Mushahwar VK, et al. A feasibility study of intermittent electrical stimulation to prevent deep tissue injury in the intensive care unit. Adv Wound Care 2017;6(4):115-124.

102. Alon G, Levitt AF, McCarthy PA. Functional electrical stimulation (FES) may modify the poor prognosis of stroke survivors with severe motor loss of the upper extremity: A preliminary study. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2008;87(8):627-636.

103. Kern H, Barberi L, Löfler S, Sbardella S, Burggraf S, Fruhmann H, et al. Electrical stimulation counteracts muscle decline in seniors. Frontiers in aging neuroscience 2014;6:189.

104. Vivodtzev I, Debigare R, Gagnon P, Mainguy V, Saey D, Dube A, et al. Functional and muscular effects of neuromuscular electrical stimulation in patients with severe COPD: A randomized clinical trial. Chest 2012;141(3):716-725.

105. Doran F, Drury M, Sivyer A. A simple way to combat the venous stasis which occurs in the lower limbs during surgical operations. Br J Surg 1964;51(7):486-492.

106. Doran FS, White M, Drury M. A clinical trial designed to test the relative value of two simple methods of reducing the risk of venous stasis in the lower limbs during surgical operations, the danger of thrombosis, and a subsequent pulmonary embolus, with a survey of the problem. Br J Surg 1970;57(1):20.

107. Negus D. Prevention of postoperative leg vein thrombosis by electrical muscle stimulation. an evaluation with 125I-labelled fibrinogen. Br Med J 1970;3(5723):615-618.

108. Griffin M, Nicolaides AN, Bond D, Geroulakos G, Kalodiki E. The efficacy of a new stimulation technology to increase venous flow and prevent venous stasis. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010;40(6):766-771.

109. Embrey DG, Alon G, Brandsma BA, Vladimir F, Silva A, Pflugeisen BM, et al. Functional electrical stimulation improves quality of life by reducing intermittent claudication. Int J Cardiol 2017;243:454-459.

110. Ravikumar R, Williams KJ, Babber A, Lane TRA, Moore HM, Davies AH. Randomised controlled trial: Potential benefit of a footplate neuromuscular electrical stimulation device in patients with chronic venous disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2016;53(1):114-121.

111. Lobastov K, Ryzhkin V, Vorontsova A, Schastlivtsev I, Barinov V, Laberko L, et al. Electrical calf muscle stimulation in patients with post-thrombotic syndrome and residual venous obstruction after anticoagulation therapy. Int Angiol 2018;37(5):400-410. 112. Williams KJ, Moore HM, Davies AH. Haemodynamic changes with the use of neuromuscular electrical stimulation compared to intermittent pneumatic compression. Phlebology 2015;30(5):365-372.

113. Evans DRS, Williams KJ, Strutton PH, Davies AH. The comparative hemodynamic efficacy of lower limb muscles using transcutaneous electrical stimulation. Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2016;4(2):206-214.

114. Wei Y, Yang K, Browne M, Bostan L, Worsley P. Wearable electrical stimulation to improve lymphatic function. IEEE Sensors Letters 2019;3(2):1-4.

115. Vrbová G, Hudlická O, Centofanti KS. Application of muscle/nerve stimulation in health and disease. Springer Science & Business Media; 2008.

116. Gloviczki P. Handbook of venous and lymphatic disorders: Guidelines of the american venous forum. CRC Press; 2017.

117. Hajibandeh S, Hajibandeh S, Antoniou GA, Scurr J, Torella F. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation for thromboprophylaxis: A systematic review. Phlebology 2015;30(9):589-602.

118. Breen PP, Galvin O, Quondamatteo F, Grace PA, OLaighin G. Comparison of single- and two-channel neuromuscular electrical stimulation sites for enhancing venous return. TNSRE 2012;20(3):389-394.

119. Lyons GM, Leane GE, Clarke-Moloney M, O'Brien JV, Grace PA. An investigation of the effect of electrode size and electrode location on comfort during stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle. Med Eng Phys 2004;26(10):873-878.

120. Alon G. High voltage stimulation: Effects of electrode size on basic excitatory responses.Phys Ther 1985;65(6):890-895.

121. Tucker A, Maass A, Bain D, Chen L, Azzam M, Dawson H, et al. Augmentation of venous, arterial and microvascular blood supply in the leg by isometric neuromuscular stimulation via the peroneal nerve. Int J Angiol 2010;19(1):e31-e37.

122. Martínez-Rodríguez A, Senin-Camargo F, Raposo-Vidal I, Chouza-Insua M, Rodríguez-Romero B, Jácome MA. Effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation via peroneal nerve or soleus muscle on venous flow: A randomized cross-over study in healthy subjects. Medicine 2018;97(36).

123. Lindström B, Korsan- Bengtsen K, Jonsson O, Petruson B, Pettersson S, Wikstrand J. Electrically induced short- lasting tetanus of the calf muscles for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. Br J Surg 1982;69(4):203-206.

124. Janssen TW, Hopman MT. Blood flow response to electrically induced twitch and tetanic lower-limb muscle contractions. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2003;84(7):982-987.

125. Lyons GM, Leane GE, Grace PA. The effect of electrical stimulation of the calf muscle and compression stocking on venous blood flow velocity. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2002;23(6):564-566.

126. Nicolaides AN, Kakkar VV, Field ES, Fish P. Optimal electrical stimulus for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. BMJ 1972;(5829):756-758.

127. Corley GJ, Bîrlea SI, Breen P, ÓLaighin G. Popliteal blood flow and plantar flexion force

due to neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) of the calf muscle pump are strongly associated with NMES intensity. In2009 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society 2009; 3051-3054. IEEE.

128. Yang S, Gong X, Wei S, Gu X, Shi J, Jiang C, et al. A hemodynamic study of the effect of neuromuscular electrical stimulation on enhancing popliteal venous flow. J Shanghai Jiaotong Univ (Sci) 2014;19(6):706-711.

129. Zhang Q, Styf J, Ekström L, Holm AK. Effects of electrical nerve stimulation on force generation, oxygenation and blood volume in muscles of the immobilized human leg. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2014;74(5):369-377.

130. Doran F, White HM. A demonstration that the risk of postoperative deep venous thrombosis is reduced by stimulating the calf muscles electrically during the operation. Br J Surg 1967;54(8):686-689.

131. Rosenberg IL, Evans M, Pollock IV. Prophylaxis of postoperative leg vine thrombosis by low dose subcutaneous heparin or peroperative calf muscle stimulation: A controlled clinical trial. Br Med J 1975(5959):649-51.

132. Izumi M, Ikeuchi M, Aso K, Sugimura N, Kamimoto Y, Mitani T, et al. Less deep vein thrombosis due to transcutaneous fibular nerve stimulation in total knee arthroplasty: A randomized controlled trial. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2015;23(11):3317-3323.

133. Boström S, Holmgren E, Jonsson O, Lindberg S, Lindström B, Winsö I, et al. Postoperative thromboembolism in neurosurgery. A study on the prophylactic effect of calf muscle stimulation plus dextran compared to low-dose heparin. Acta neurochirurgica 1986;80(3-4):83-89.

134. Velmahos GC, Petrone P, Chan LS, Hanks SE, Brown CV, Demetriades D.Electrostimulation for the prevention of deep venous thrombosis in patients with major trauma:A prospective randomized study. Surgery 2005;137(5):493-498.

135. Dejode LR, Khurshid M, Walther WW. The influence of electrical stimulation of the leg during surgical operations on the subsequent development of deep- vein thrombosis. Br J Surg 1973;60(1):31-32.

136. Hajibandeh S, Hajibandeh S, Antoniou GA, Scurr JR, Torella F. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation for the prevention of venous thromboembolism. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017(11).

137. Warwick DJ, Shaikh A, Gadola S, Stokes M, Worsley P, Bain D, et al. Neuromuscular electrostimulation via the common peroneal nerve promotes lower limb blood flow in a below-knee cast. Bone Joint Res 2013;2(9):179-185.

138. Jawad H, Bain DS, Dawson H, Crawford K, Johnston A, Tucker A. The effectiveness of a novel neuromuscular electrostimulation method versus intermittent pneumatic compression in enhancing lower limb blood flow. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2014;2(2):160-165.

139. Badger J, Taylor P, Papworth N, Swain I. Electrical stimulation devices for the prevention of venous thromboembolism: Preliminary studies of physiological efficacy and user satisfaction.J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng 2018;5:2055668318800218.

140. Summers JA, Clinch J, Radhakrishnan M, Healy A, McMillan V, Morris E, et al. The geko[™] electro-stimulation device for venous thromboembolism prophylaxis: A NICE medical technology guidance. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2015;13(2):135-147.

141. Lattimer CR, Zymvragoudakis V, Geroulakos G, Kalodiki E. Venous thromboprophylaxis with neuromuscular stimulation: Is it calf muscle pumping or just twitches and jerks? Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2018;24(3):446-451.

2 An Alternative Prophylaxis for Deep Vein Thrombosis Using Intermittent Electrical Stimulation¹

2.1 Introduction

Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is a common medical condition and is a major contributor to the global disease burden.¹ Etiologically, venous stasis is a common target of current, prophylactic, mechanical interventions in intra- and post-operative settings as well as nonoperative settings. The mainstay of these mechanical interventions is intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC). IPC is effective in reducing the incidence of DVT;² however, poor patient compliance due to discomfort, itchiness, excessive heat, sweating, lack of portability as well as the potential to develop peroneal nerve palsy, ultimately limit its acceptance by users.³⁻⁵ Furthermore, DVT prophylaxis often requires a 24-hour intervention regimen. Due to IPCs nonportable nature, its utility as a prophylactic method in non-hospital settings is unfavorable.

Electrical stimulation may present an attractive mechanical alternative for DVT prophylaxis due to its capacity to improve hemodynamic performance⁶⁻¹¹ and its general acceptability.^{6,7,12} Electrical stimulation entails the application of electrical current through electrodes placed on the skin to produce contractions in the underlying muscle.¹³ Much work has been performed to determine a stimulation pattern that maximizes hemodynamic performance. Specifically, tetanic versus twitch contractions,¹⁴ and the muscle of choice to stimulate,¹⁵ have been investigated. However, existing electrical stimulation systems have either been limited to short duration use (20-30 min, 2-3 times per day) due to rapid fatigue of the target muscle,¹⁰ or use twitch contractions that are ineffective in mobilizing blood effectively in proximal veins.¹⁶

We proposed a new electrical stimulation paradigm, named intermittent electrical

¹ Prepared manuscript to be submitted to the European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery. Co-authors are Dr. Dirk G. Everaert and Dr. Vivian K. Mushahwar.

stimulation (IES), that utilizes brief tetanic, sequential contractions of the gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscles repeated every few minutes for the prevention of DVT formation due to venous stasis. IES has the potential to be translated into a clinically applicable intervention that is portable, has a high degree of patient compliance, and can be utilized up to 24 hours/day, thus avoiding some of the downfalls of IPC and existing electrical stimulation systems.

The present study focused on three specific goals that addressed the viability of IES as a mechanical prophylactic intervention for venous stasis. First, although specific parameters of electrical stimulation waveforms have been previously investigated, ^{15,17,18} this study investigated, for the first time, the level of IES-induced contractions required to generate a sufficient increase in venous velocity. Secondly, while most electrical stimulation studies measured the effects of the induced muscle contractions on the popliteal vein,^{7,9,19} the present study systematically investigated, for the first time, the effect of IES on more proximal vasculature, such as the femoral vein, in which thrombi are more likely to lead to pulmonary emboli (PE).²⁰ Thirdly, in addition to testing in typical individuals with healthy muscles, this study identified, for the first time, the hemodynamic performance of IES when used in atrophied muscles secondary to acute stroke, where individuals are at high-risk of DVT development. Previous electrical stimulation studies were undertaken in intensive care unit patients,²¹ post-operative hip and knee arthroplasty^{6,12} and patients with chronic venous disease.^{7,22} However, investigation in stroke patients in whom the prevalence of venous thromboembolism is 20-42%, $^{23-25}$ had not been investigated extensively in the past.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Participants

Thirty-two participants (8 females; 24 males) completed the study. Participants were informed of the experimental procedures and signed a written consent form. Protocols used in the experiments were approved by the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board.

Of the 32 participants in the study, 22 were typical healthy subjects recruited from the general Edmonton community, and 10 were in-patient post-stroke subjects recruited at the Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital (GRH) in Edmonton. Exclusion criteria included having an implantable device, a need for translation to communicate, severe peripheral vascular disease, diabetes with amputations, pre-existing motor neuropathy, neuromuscular disease, an existing DVT or a recommendation to be excluded by a treating physician. Experiments involving the typical study participants were performed at the University of Alberta and those involving poststroke in-patients were performed at GRH.

Group	Sample	Description	Sex	Mean Age (yrs)	Venous Diameter (cm)
	Size			(Min, Max)	(Min, Max)
1	12	Typical	8 male/	48±14 (26, 64)	Popliteal: 0.99±0.18 (0.68, 1.32)
		subjects	4 female		
2	10	Typical	9 male/	38±17 (21, 60)	Popliteal: 0.90±0.15 (0.61, 1.10)
		subjects	1 female		Femoral: 0.92±0.11 (0.75, 1.10)
3	10	Post-stroke	7 male/	65±14 (46, 89)	Popliteal: 0.57±0.12 (0.46, 0.86)
		patients	3 female		

Table 2-1: Summary of participants in each study group.

2.2.2 Experimental Protocol

2.2.2.1 Overview

The participants were divided into 3 groups (Table 2-1) and changes in venous velocity in the

popliteal and/or femoral veins were measured during IES-induced muscle contractions using Doppler ultrasound. The forces generated during the muscle contractions were also recorded using a custom-built force apparatus. Stimulation amplitude was modulated to evaluate the relationship between stimulation amplitude, force generation and changes in venous velocity. Potential discomfort associated with IES was evaluated during the testing sessions using a visual analog scale (VAS).

2.2.2.2 Application of Intermittent Electrical Stimulation

A two-channel stimulator (BioMedical Life Systems, Vista, California, USA) was used to administer IES (biphasic, cathodic-first, charge-balanced pulses, 300 µs pulse width, 17.5 Hz repetition rate). IES was delivered through pairs of 7.5 x 10 cm electrodes (Axelgaard Manufacturing CO., LTD, Fallbrook, California, USA) placed on the posterior and anterior sides of the leg. To induce a plantar flexion contraction, the cathode was placed over the motor point of the gastrocnemius muscle and the anode was placed proximally to the Achilles tendon (Figure 2-1A, left). To induce a dorsi flexion contraction, cathodic placement corresponded to the motor point of the tibialis anterior muscle, with anodic placement approximately five centimeters distal to the cathode (Figure 2-1A, right). Electrode size and location were chosen to maximize comfort.²⁶

The IES stimulation paradigm consisted of a 1s "ON" of plantar flexion contraction, followed immediately by 1s "ON" of dorsi flexion contraction (Figure 2-1B) and an "OFF" period of 3 min. This novel pattern was intended to produce tetanic, non-fatiguing contractions in the muscles while also maintaining neutral position of the foot between IES cycles.

IES was applied to the right leg for Groups 1 and 2 (Table 2-1) and the more affected leg

with more atrophied muscles in Group 3. The maximal tolerable stimulation amplitudes for the gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior muscles were determined by gradually increasing the stimulation amplitude starting from the lowest stimulator setting. To generate recruitment curves that relate the strength of muscle contraction to changes in venous velocity, stimulation amplitude to the gastrocnemius muscle was modulated from the lowest stimulator setting to the maximal tolerable stimulation level. The stimulation amplitude to the tibialis anterior muscle remained constant throughout the experiment and was chosen to be below the maximal tolerable level, yet at a level that elicited a visible contraction.

2.2.2.3 Testing Setup

All subjects were seated in a semi recumbent position, with the tested leg in the custom-built force apparatus (Figure 2-1C). The subject's leg was positioned such that the plantar surface of the foot rested firmly on a force plate while maintaining approximately 60° of flexion in the knee joint, allowing for adequate access of the ultrasound probe to the popliteal fossa. The ankle rested on a thick, padded strap and the thigh was also secured with a strap. For typical subjects (Groups 1 and 2), maximal voluntary contractions (MVCs) of the plantar flexor muscles were then obtained in triplicate and averaged. Care was taken to ensure that the subjects did not utilize their proximal leg muscles during MVC recordings. Group 3 post-stroke subjects were unable to perform voluntary contractions using their experimental (more affected) leg; therefore, the maximal recorded contraction with stimulation (MRCS) was used as a substitute.

IES was then applied in successively increasing stimulation amplitudes to the gastrocnemius muscle and the resulting plantar flexion force and changes in popliteal and/or femoral venous velocities were recorded for each stimulation level (Figures 2-2A and 2-2B).

This was repeated until the maximal tolerable stimulation amplitude to the gastrocnemius was reached. The stimulation was then reset to the lowest level and the process was repeated two additional times for Group 1, resulting in a total of three repetitions. This procedure was performed a total of two times for each vein (popliteal or femoral) in Group 2, and a total of two times in Group 3. Between repetitions, rest-venous velocities were recorded in triplicate, without stimulation, to monitor any changes in baseline venous velocity over the course of the experiment.

2.2.3 Venous Velocity and Force Measurements

Prior to initiating the application of IES, the diameter of the popliteal vein (and femoral vein in Group 2) was measured using B-mode ultrasound (Table 2-1). Doppler ultrasound was then used to monitor changes in venous velocity during the IES-induced muscle contractions. Two ultrasound systems were used for the measurements. For the experiments performed at the University of Alberta (Groups 1 and 2), an ACUSONS2000 ultrasound machine (Siemens, Mountain View, California, USA) was used along with a 40 mm, 4-8 MHz, linear probe. For the experiments performed at GRH (Group 3), a HD15 ultrasound machine (Philips, Markham, Ontario, Canada) was used with a 20 mm, 4-8 MHz, linear probe. The popliteal and femoral veins were examined using a longitudinal view in the popliteal and femoral fossae, respectively. The Doppler beam had an angle of 60° and a gate size of 2 mm, placed at the center of the vein during measurements. Care was taken to ensure the angle of the doppler beam and vein were in parallel and that the quality of the B-mode image was appropriate before recording measurements.

Force generated during IES-induced muscle contractions was measured using a custom-

made apparatus that consisted of an LCPB-100 load cell (Omega Engineering INVC., St-Eustache, Quebec, Canada) secured in a "boot" where the subject's foot rested (Figure 2-1C). The force signals were digitized at a rate of 1000 Hz using an NI USB-6361 data acquisition system (National Instruments, Austin, Texas) (DAQ), and a custom-written MATLAB (version 2017b, MathWorks, Natick, Massachusetts, USA) program.

2.2.4 Evaluation of Participant Comfort During Stimulation

The VAS was used to determine and track the subjects' level of discomfort during IES using a 0-to-10 scale, where 10 represented the maximal imaginable level of pain, and 0 represented a complete absence of discomfort or pain. Mild, moderate and severe discomfort or pain were classified as $\leq 3, \geq 3$ and ≤ 7 , and > 7, respectively. At the end of the testing session, each subject was asked whether they would feel comfortable having IES applied for several hours a day and if they thought they could sleep with it.

2.2.5 Data Analysis

Ultrasound DICOM images were exported to MATLAB for analysis using a customwritten program. Signals in the images were converted to a continuous curve using differences in pixel intensity to differentiate signal (defined as a pixel intensity greater than 3.5 standard deviations from complete non-signal) from noise. An example of the MATLAB generated continuous curve is shown as a red line in Figures 2-2A and 2-2B. Baseline and peak venous velocities were then identified, and peak venous velocity (PVV) for each test trial per subject was plotted against stimulation amplitude (PVV-IES amplitude recruitment curves) as well as against peak plantar flexion force (Figure 2-2C; PVV-force recruitment curves). Peak venous flowrates were calculated by finding the product of PVV and the cross-sectional venous area.

The PVV-force recruitment curves were averaged for each subject. To compare across subjects within a group, the force produced by the plantar flexion contractions was expressed as %MVC in Groups 1 and 2 and binned in 10% MVC size bins. In Group 3, the plantar flexor force produced by IES at various stimulation amplitudes was expressed as %MRCS. In all groups, popliteal PVV for each subject was also plotted against the rate of force generation during the upstroke portion of the plantar flexor force trace.

2.2.6 Statistical Analysis

For normally distributed data, a one-way ANOVA and Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis was performed (SigmaPlot 13.0, Systat Software Inc., San Jose, California, USA) to identify statistical changes in popliteal and femoral PVV as a function of %MVC or %MRCS. Where normality was not achieved, a Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA and Dunn's post-hoc analysis were used. Statistical significance was achieved for $p \le 0.05$.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Participants

A summary of the study participant demographics is shown in Table 2-1. Participants recruited in Group 1 had a similar age-range and mean to that of Group 2 (p=0.75). As expected, the age range of study participants in Group 3 was skewed to the right and the average age in this group was significantly higher than that in Group 2 (p=0.007) but not in Group 1 (p=0.12). Interestingly, Group 3 had a smaller average popliteal venous diameter compared to Groups 1 and 2 (p<0.001). This could possibly be due to lack of perfusion in the more affected side of the

post-stroke subjects.

2.3.2 Effect of Strength of IES-Induced Plantar Flexion on Increases in Popliteal Venous Velocity

Examples of three popliteal PVV-IES amplitude recruitment curves from one participant in Group 1 are shown in Figure 2-2D. Figure 2-3A shows the averaged popliteal PVV-force recruitment curves for each participant in Group 1, and Figure 2-3B shows the same recruitment curves with the forces expressed as %MVC. In most participants, there was a sharp increase in popliteal PVV at the low levels of %MVC but tended to plateau at higher %MVC, suggesting that large muscle contractions are not necessarily needed to produce large increases in PVV. To determine the %MVC required to increase popliteal PVV significantly above baseline, the PVVforce recruitment curves from all participants in Group 1 were averaged (Figure 2-3C). Across all subjects, IES-induced muscle contractions resulting in forces as small as 11-20 %MVC were adequate to produce significant increases in popliteal PVV relative to baseline (6.27±1.81 cm/s versus 55.27±25.89 cm/s, p=0.014). Contractions as small as 11-20 %MVC increased popliteal PVV 8 times above baseline.

2.3.3 Changes in Popliteal and Femoral Venous Velocity with Increasing Force Generation

Figure 2-2E shows the popliteal and femoral PVV-IES amplitude recruitment curves from one participant in Group 2. Similar increases in both popliteal and femoral PVV were seen with increasing stimulation amplitudes to the gastrocnemius muscles in this participant. Popliteal and femoral PVV-force recruitment curves from all participants in Group 2 are shown in Figures 2-4A and 2-4B, respectively. Similar to the results in Group 1, the PVV in both the popliteal and femoral veins sharply increased at weak IES-induced muscle contractions in most participants and plateaued at stronger contractions. The popliteal and femoral PVV-force recruitment curves are plotted as %MVC in Figures 2-4C and 2-4D, respectively, and averaged across all participants in Group 2 in Figure 2-4E. Not surprisingly, the increases in the popliteal PVV as a function of increased IES-induced contraction strengths were significantly larger than the increases in the femoral PVV (p=0.003). Nonetheless, muscle contractions producing as low as 11-20 %MVC produced significantly large increases in both popliteal and femoral PVV relative to baseline [(popliteal: 6.60±1.35 cm/s versus 54.92±26.30 cm/s, p=0.003); (femoral: 7.89±2.58 cm/s versus 38.84±13.31 cm/s, p=0.002)]. This confirms that relatively small IES-induced contractions are adequate for increasing PVV significantly above baseline. At 11-20 %MVC, PVV increased by 8.3 times above baseline in the popliteal vein and by 4.9 times above baseline in the femoral vein.

A direct comparison between the increases in popliteal and femoral PVV is shown in Figure 2-4F. Interestingly, there is a close to unity linear relationship between popliteal PVV and femoral PVV for popliteal PVVs below 80 cm/s. The ratio of popliteal to femoral PVV as a result of IES-induced contractions was 1:0.73 (R^2 =0.99) for popliteal PVVs below 80 cm/s. This demonstrates that, for the setup in this experiment, the increases in femoral PVV due to IESinduced contractions in the gastrocnemius muscle were similar in magnitude to those seen in the popliteal PVV. For popliteal PVVs >80 cm/s, the increases in femoral PVVs was substantially smaller. Collectively, this suggests that changes in femoral PVV caused by contractions in the gastrocnemius muscle can be directly estimated based on the changes in the popliteal PVV. 2.3.4 Changes in Popliteal Venous Velocity due to IES-inducted Contractions in Atrophied Muscles

Examples of popliteal PVV-IES amplitude recruitment curves from one post-stroke participant in Group 3 are shown in Figure 2-2F. Popliteal PVV-force recruitment curves for all participants are provided in Figure 2-5A, and the same curves expressed in %MRCS are shown in Figure 2-5B. Unlike the popliteal PVV-force recruitment curves in typical healthy participants in Groups 1 and 2 (Figures 2-3 and 2-4, respectively), there was a linear increase in popliteal PVV with increases in force generation in the post-stroke participants. Moreover, because of muscle atrophy in the post-stroke participants in Group 3, significantly lower IES-induced peak forces compared to typical subjects in Groups 1 and 2 (the maximal IES-induced force was 46 ± 22 N in Group 3, compared to 193 ± 91 N and 111 ± 42 N in Groups 1 and 2, respectively; p<0.001). Furthermore, the typical population produced significantly higher average MVC forces (348 ± 113 N and 321 ± 124 N for Groups 1 and 2, respectively), compared to MRCS forces in the post-stroke group (46 ± 22 N in Group 3; p<0.001).

Figure 2-5C shows the averaged popliteal PVV-force recruitment curve across all subjects. Muscle contraction strengths producing 51-60 %MRCS were needed to produce significant increases in popliteal PVV above baseline (8.93 ± 1.98 cm/s versus 52.92 ±22.38 cm/s, p=0.013). IES-induced plantar flexor contractions at 51-60 %MRCS produced a 5.9 factor increase in popliteal PVV above baseline. Therefore, the lowest absolute force needed for each group to elicit a significant increase in popliteal venous velocity from baseline was between 38 ± 12 N to 70 ± 23 N (11-20% MVC) for Group 1, 35 ± 14 N to 64 ± 25 N (11-20% MVC) for Group 2 and 23 ± 11 N to 28 ± 12 N (51-60% MRCS) for Group 3. These results suggested that in atrophied muscles with no prior conditioning with electrical stimulation, low to moderate contractions are needed to produce significant increases in popliteal PVV.

2.3.5 Changes in Peak Volumetric Flowrate due to IES-induced Contractions

A comparison of the peak volumetric flowrate-force recruitment curves for typical and post-stroke subjects is shown in (Figure 2-6A). The IES-induced muscle contraction forces were 3 times larger in the typical subjects than the post-stroke subjects. Moreover, because the diameter of the popliteal vein was significantly smaller in the post-stroke group, the peak flow rates are also smaller in this group relative to the typical groups (Groups 1, 2) for the same level of induced contraction forces. Nonetheless, at the maximal force levels produced across all groups, similar popliteal PVVs were achieved (Figures 2-3C, 2-4E, 2-5C; p=0.58).

2.3.6 Effect of Rate of Force Generation on Peak Popliteal Venous Velocity

The rate of force generation via IES-induced contraction of the gastrocnemius muscle was also compared between the typical and post-stroke study participants (Figure 2-6B). Interestingly, there was a positive relationship between the rate of force generation and popliteal PVV for all subjects. Furthermore, the post-stroke subjects achieved higher popliteal PVVs at lower rates of force generation, likely due to their smaller vessel diameter and possibly suggesting that less atrophied muscles do not need to contract as fast to generate a given increase in popliteal PVV.

2.3.7 Comfort and Acceptability of IES for DVT Prophylaxis

The VAS scores for all study groups are shown in Figure 2-6C. All participants felt relatively low levels of discomfort with IES use (Group $1 = 3.82 \pm 1.97$; Group $2 = 1.97 \pm 2.40$; Group $3 = 0.80 \pm 0.97$). Interestingly, post-stroke subjects in Group 3 found IES to evoke the least discomfort compared to other groups. This was significant compared to the typical subjects in

Group 1 (p=0.001). Discrepancies between the typical groups (Group 1 and 2) could be due to the use of higher stimulation amplitudes in Group 1 which produced larger IES-induced forces (compare Fig. 2-3A and 2-4A) and/or the use of better adhering electrodes in Group 2, which collectively may have impacted subject discomfort in Group 1.

With respect to everyday use of IES, 68% of typical and 100% of post-stroke subjects said they would feel comfortable using IES for several hours a day. Moreover, 63% of typical and 50% of post-stroke subjects said they would be able to sleep with IES.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Overview

The goal of this work was to investigate the hemodynamic performance of IES, a novel electrical stimulation paradigm for preventing venous stasis and DVT formation. The results demonstrate, for the first time, that IES produces significant increases in popliteal PVV at low plantar flexor contractions, both in typical and post-stroke subjects. The results also revealed, for the first time, a near linear unity relationship between the increases in popliteal and femoral PVVs as a result of IES (Figure 2-4F). This suggests that the IES-induced plantar flexor contractions are effective in improving the hemodynamics of proximal veins in which DVTs have a high risk of causing pulmonary emboli. The study also showed that increases in maximal PVV caused by IES-induced plantar flexion are similar between subjects with healthy muscles and veins and post-stroke patients with atrophied muscles and smaller diameter veins. This suggests that IES will likely be effective in a wide range of patient populations at risk of developing DVT. Importantly, no muscle fatigue was detected in any of the participants during the testing sessions, and all participants found IES comfortable. Collectively, the results suggest

that IES may be an effective and acceptable means for DVT prophylaxis.

2.4.2 Comparison of IES to Existing Mechanical Compression Systems

Compression stockings and IPC devices have been promoted as mechanical systems for the prevention of DVT.^{27,28} While IPC devices are effective in reducing the incidence of DVT in acute care settings²⁹ the evidence for compression stockings as an effective means for preventing DVT is lacking.³⁰

The effectiveness of IPC stems from its ability to mobilize venous blood dynamically by sequentially compressing the legs distally to proximally. IES also aims to mobilize the blood dynamically, but instead of passively compressing the legs, it accomplishes this by inducing periodical muscle contractions through a wearable sock-like device that actively engages the muscle pump. The IES system may mitigate the low degree of patient compliance and lack of portability associated with IPC. Moreover, unlike IPC, IES may be effective in retaining and increasing muscle mass and contractile strength in people with reduced mobility such as post-stroke patients, thus reducing muscle atrophy. Finally, this study demonstrated, for the first time, that the rate of muscle contraction positively affects the increase in PVV: the higher the rate of contraction, the greater the increase in PVV in both typical and post-stroke subjects (Figure 2-6B). This suggests that IES may be more effective than IPC in mobilizing venous blood due to the limitation of pneumatic devices to produce rapid compressions.

2.4.3 Comparison of IES to Existing Electrical Stimulation System for Preventing DVT

Other electrical stimulation devices, particularly the VEINOPLUS®¹⁰ and gekoTM,¹⁶ have also focused on preventing the formation of DVT. Nonetheless, IES fundamentally differs from

these systems with regards to its mechanism of action for DVT prevention. Both the VEINOPLUS® and gekoTM utilize patterns of stimulation that reproduce a heartbeat, with the aim of increasing peak systolic velocity.^{10,16} Specifically, the VEINOPLUS® delivers very brief (50ms-long) trains of stimuli up to 120 times per minute,¹⁰ and the gekoTM delivers a single stimulus pulse 60 times per minute.¹⁶ Moreover, while the VEINOPLUS® applies the stimulation to the gastrocnemius muscle, the gekoTM stimulates the common peroneal nerve that innervates the tibialis anterior muscle.

The principle of operation of IES is not based on augmenting the heart in mobilizing venous blood on a beat-by-beat basis. While irregular or weak cardiac contractions can indeed lead to clot formation, the health conditions that increase the risk of clot formation are much more pervasive and venous blood flow is more related to calf muscle contractions, compared to left ventricular pressure.³¹ Instead of augmenting the action of the heart on a beat-by-beat basis. IES mimics the action of leg muscles in preventing venous stasis during standing, walking or leg movements while sitting or sleeping. Specifically, the IES pattern utilizes 1s-long trains of stimuli repeated every 3 min. This pattern of stimulation therefore does not require accurate synchronization with the heartbeat, does not risk the chance of counteracting the effect of a heartbeat and mimics the more natural pattern utilized by muscles to prevent venous stasis. Importantly, because the stimuli are delivered less frequently using the IES pattern than that in the VEINOPLUS® or gekoTM systems, the chances of muscle fatigue are substantially reduced, allowing IES to be used effectively up to 24 hours per day. A variant of the IES pattern utilized in this study has already been demonstrated to be fatigue-resistant in an application focused on preventing pressure ulcers.^{32,33}

2.4.4 Muscle Contraction Characteristics Most Suitable for the Prevention of DVT

In addition to the repetition rate of a stimulation pattern, the mode of muscle activation (i.e., tetanic vs. twitch contraction) and the muscle(s) chosen for stimulation play an important role in mobilizing venous blood. Janssen et al.³⁴ showed that tetanic contractions did not significantly increase popliteal PVV compared to twitch contractions. However, newer evidence demonstrated that twitch contractions, and especially those induced in the tibialis anterior muscle, may be inadequate for venous emptying.¹⁴ Particularly, the gekoTM system which only stimulates the common peroneal nerve, activates only 26% of the muscles in the leg, resulting in suboptimal venous emptying of deep veins in the posterior region of the leg.¹⁴ While IES is capable of increasing popliteal PVV on average more than 8 times above baseline with small plantar flexor contractions, maximal stimulation amplitudes are needed by the gekoTM to achieve similar results.³⁵

Similar to IES in this study, VEINOPLUS® stimulates the gastrocnemius muscle to induce effective increases in popliteal PVV. The IES-induced plantar flexor contractions in this study produced large increases in both the popliteal and femoral PVV at low levels of contraction. However, unlike the VEINOPLUS®, IES was also applied to the tibialis anterior immediately after the its application to the gastrocnemius muscle. This was done to ensure that the ankle returned to a neutral position following the plantar flexor contractions. Continuous stimulation of the plantar flexors, as is the case with the VEINOPLUS®, has the risk of increasing spasticity and contractures in populations at high risk of developing DVT, such as people with stroke. This situation would be further exacerbated with stimulation patterns inducing contractions up to 120 times per minutes, as is done using VEINOPLUS®, without a means to return the ankle to a neutral position.

2.4.5 Conclusion

The work presented in this study elucidated the clinical viability of IES as a prophylactic approach to DVT. It demonstrated that IES is comfortable, hemodynamically effective even in post-stroke patients with atrophied muscles and does not cause appreciable muscle fatigue. Future work will assess the feasibility and effectiveness of IES for DVT prophylaxis in acute and non-acute care settings through clinical trials.


Figure 2-1: Electrode placement, stimulation paradigm and experimental setup.

(A) Electrode placement for activating the gastrocnemius (left) and tibialis anterior (right) muscles. (B) IES paradigm which comprised of trains of biphasic pulses (17.5 Hz), stimulating the gastrocnemius muscle for 1s, followed immediately by stimulating the tibialis anterior muscle for 1s. Pulses had a pulse width of 300 µs and their amplitude was modulated during the experiment. (C) Custom-built apparatus for measuring the forces evoked by IES-induced contractions. The setup allowed access to popliteal and femoral veins for measuring venous velocity using Doppler ultrasound.



Figure 2-2: Outcome measures of venous blood velocity and force, with recruitment curves from a single subject, in each of the three study groups shown.

(A) Doppler ultrasound trace of a single bout of IES on the popliteal vein, showing baseline venous velocity prior to the delivery of IES and peak venous velocities during IES-induced plantarflexion and dorsiflexion. The continuous curve used to calculate baseline and peak velocities, produced by MATLAB, is shown in red overlying the raw trace. (B) Doppler ultrasound trace of a single bout of IES on the femoral vein. Identical parameters are shown as described in (A). (C) Force trace produced during a single bout of IES, showing the isometric forces produced during plantarflexion and dorsiflexion. Recruitment curves from a single subject, in each of the three study groups. (D) Example IES amplitude-popliteal PVV recruitment curves from one subject in Group 1. Three recruitment curves were obtained for each subject in Group 2. Two recruitment curves were obtained per vein, for each subject in this group. (F) Example IES amplitude-popliteal PVV recruitment curves from subject in Group 3. Two recruitment curves were obtained for each subject in this group.



Percent of Maximum Voluntary Contraction (%)

Figure 2-3: Group 1 typical population data.

(A) Popliteal peak venous velocity vs.
peak force for all Group 1 subjects (mean ± standard deviation). (B) Popliteal peak venous velocity replotted against bins of percent MVC (mean ± standard deviation). Percent MVC was binned to compare across subjects. Baseline velocities (without stimulation) are also shown. (C) Averaged popliteal peak venous velocity across all subjects in Group 1 vs. percent MVC (mean ± standard error). *p=0.014.



Figure 2-4: Group 2 typical population data of the popliteal and femoral veins.

(A) Peak force and popliteal peak venous velocity for all participants (mean \pm standard deviation). (B) Peak Force and femoral peak venous velocity (mean \pm standard deviation). (C) Popliteal peak venous velocity for all subjects binned as percent of MVC (mean ± standard deviation). Baseline venous velocity (without stimulation) is also shown for each subject. (D) Femoral peak venous velocity for all subjects binned as percent of MVC (mean ± standard deviation). Baseline (without stimulation) is also shown for each subject. (E) Averaged popliteal and femoral peak venous velocities (mean \pm standard error). The popliteal and femoral velocities were significantly different (#p=0.003). All popliteal and femoral venous velocities for MVCs \geq 11-20 with stimulation were significantly larger than venous velocities at baseline (*p=0.003; **p=0.002). (F) Relationship between popliteal peak venous velocity and femoral peak venous velocity. Popliteal venous velocities were binned in sizes of 10 cm/s, starting from zero, allowing popliteal and femoral velocities to be averaged within each bin. A linear fit was completed on the first eight points of the stimulation curve (y=0.73x+3.50; R²=0.99). Baseline velocities of the popliteal and femoral veins were plotted. Vertical and horizontal error bars represent standard errors.



Figure 2-5: Group 3 post-stroke population data.

Group 3 post-stroke data. (A) Peak popliteal venous velocity vs. peak force for all Group 3 subjects (mean \pm standard deviation). (B) Peak popliteal venous velocity plotted against binned percent of maximum recorded contractions with stimulation (mean \pm standard deviation). Baseline popliteal venous velocity of all subjects is shown. (C) Averaged peak popliteal venous velocity at binned percent of maximum recorded contractions with stimulation are shown (mean \pm standard error). *p=0.013.



Figure 2-6: Comparison between Groups 1 & 2 (typical subjects) and 3 (post-stroke subjects) for select parameters, is shown.

Comparison between Groups 1 & 2 (typical subjects) and 3 (post-stroke subjects) for select parameters, is shown. (A) Popliteal peak venous flowrate, as a function of peak force, for both the typical and post-stroke groups are shown. (B) Popliteal peak venous velocity, as a function of rate of force generation, is shown for both typical (Group 1 & 2) and post-stroke groups (Group 3). (C) Box and Whisker plots of VAS scores for all study groups. The median is shown with the interquartile range. The maximal values are shown where they exceed the interquartile range. Group 3 had one outlier identified by the closed circle (*p=0.001).

2.6 References

 Raskob GE, Angchaisuksiri P, Blanco AN, Buller H, Gallus A, Hunt BJ, et al. Thrombosis: A major contributor to global disease burden. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2014;34(11):2363-2371.

2. Dennis M, Sandercock P, Reid J, Graham C, Forbes J, Murray G. Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression in reduction of risk of deep vein thrombosis in patients who have had a stroke (CLOTS 3): A multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2013;382(9891):516-524.

3. Froimson MI, Murray, TG, Fazekas, AF. Venous thromboembolic disease reduction with a portable pneumatic compression device. J Arthroplasty 2009;24(2):310-316.

4. Comerota AJ, Katz ML, White JV. Why does prophylaxis with external pneumatic compression for deep vein thrombosis fail? Am J Surg. 1992;164(3):265-268.

5. Bockheim HM, McAllen KJ, Barletta JF, Baker R. Mechanical prophylaxis to prevent venous thromboembolism in surgical patients: A prospective trial evaluating compliance. Crit Care 2009;24(2):192-196.

6. Broderick BJ, Breathnach O, Condon F, Masterson E, Ólaighin G. Haemodynamic performance of neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) during recovery from total hip arthroplasty. J Orthop Surg Res 2013;8(1):3.

7. Clarke Moloney M, Lyons GM, Breen P, Burke PE, Grace PA. Haemodynamic study examining the response of venous blood flow to electrical stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle in patients with chronic venous disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006;31(3):300-305. Lyons GM, Leane GE, Grace PA. The effect of electrical stimulation of the calf muscle and compression stocking on venous blood flow velocity. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2002;23(6):564-566.

9. Broderick BJ, O'Connell S, Moloney S, O'Halloran K, Sheehan J, Quondamatteo F, et al. Comparative lower limb hemodynamics using neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) versus intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC). Physiol Meas 2014;35(9):1849-1859.

10. Griffin M, Nicolaides AN, Bond D, Geroulakos G, Kalodiki E. The efficacy of a new stimulation technology to increase venous flow and prevent venous stasis. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010;40(6):766-771.

 Izumi M, Ikeuchi M, Mitani T, Taniguchi S, Tani T. Prevention of venous stasis in the lower limb by transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2009;39(5):642-645.

12. Broderick BJ, Kennedy C, Breen PP, Kearns SR, ÓLaighin G. Patient tolerance of neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) in the presence of orthopaedic implants. Med Eng Phys 2010;33(1):56-61.

13. Baker LL, Wederich C, McNeal DR, Newsam CJ, Waters RL. Neuro muscular electrical stimulation: A practical guide. Los Amigos Research & Education Institute; 2000.

14. Lattimer CR, Zymvragoudakis V, Geroulakos G, Kalodiki E. Venous thromboprophylaxis with neuromuscular stimulation: Is it calf muscle pumping or just twitches and jerks? Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2018;24(3):446-451.

15. Breen PP, Galvin O, Quondamatteo F, Grace PA, OLaighin G. Comparison of single- and two-channel neuromuscular electrical stimulation sites for enhancing venous return. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2012;20(3):389-394.

16. Warwick DJ, Shaikh A, Gadola S, Stokes M, Worsley P, Bain D, et al. Neuromuscular electrostimulation via the common peroneal nerve promotes lower limb blood flow in a below-knee cast. Bone Joint Res 2013;2(9):179-185.

17. Nicolaides AN, Kakkar VV, Field ES, Fish P. Optimal electrical stimulus for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. Br Med J 1972;3(5829):756-758.

18. Corley GJ, Bîrlea SI, Breen P, ÓLaighin G. Popliteal blood flow and plantar flexion force due to neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) of the calf muscle pump are strongly associated with NMES intensity. In2009 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society 2009; 3051-3054. IEEE.

19. Broderick BJ, O'Briain DE, Breen PP, Kearns SR, ÓLaighin G. A pilot evaluation of a neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) based methodology for the prevention of venous stasis during bed rest. Med Eng Phys 2010;32(4):349-355.

20. Douketis JD, Crowther MA, Foster GA, Ginsberg JS. Does the location of thrombosis determine the risk of disease recurrence in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis? Am J Med 2001;110(7):515-519.

21. Ojima M, Takegawa R, Hirose T, Ohnishi M, Shiozaki T, Shimazu T. Hemodynamic effects of electrical muscle stimulation in the prophylaxis of deep vein thrombosis for intensive care unit

patients: A randomized trial. J Intensive Care 2017;5(1):9.

22. Ravikumar R, Williams KJ, Babber A, Lane TRA, Moore HM, Davies AH. Randomised controlled trial: Potential benefit of a footplate neuromuscular electrical stimulation device in patients with chronic venous disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2016;53(1):114-121.

23. Kelly J, Rudd A, Lewis RR, Coshall C, Moody A, Hunt BJ. Venous thromboembolism after acute ischemic stroke: A prospective study using magnetic resonance direct thrombus imaging. Stroke 2004;35(10):2320-2325.

24. CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Effectiveness of thigh-length graduated compression stockings to reduce the risk of deep vein thrombosis after stroke (CLOTS trial 1): A multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009;373(9679):1958-1965.

25. CLOTS (Clots in Legs Or Stockings after Stroke) Trial Collaboration. Thigh-length versus below-knee stockings for deep venous thrombosis prophylaxis after stroke: A randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2010;153(9):553-562.

26. Lyons GM, Leane GE, Clarke-Moloney M, O'Brien JV, Grace PA. An investigation of the effect of electrode size and electrode location on comfort during stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle. Medical Engineering and Physics 2004;26(10):873-878.

27. Brandjes DP, Büller HR, Heijboer H, Huisman MV, de Rijk M, Jagt H, et al. Randomise trial of effect of compression stockings in patients with symptomatic proximal-vein thrombosis. Lancet 1997;349(9054):759-762.

28. Hills NH, Pflug JJ, Jeyasingh K, Boardman L, Calnan JS. Prevention of deep vein thrombosis by intermittent pneumatic compression of calf. Br Med J 1972;1(5793):131-135.

29. CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression in reduction of risk of deep vein thrombosis in patients who have had a stroke (CLOTS 3): A multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2013;382(9891):516-524.

30. Sachdeva A, Dalton M, Amaragiri SV, Lees T. Graduated compression stockings for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018(12).

31. Kumagai K, Fukunami M, Ohmori M, Kitabatake A, Kamada T, Hoki N. Increased intracardiovascular clotting in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;16(2):377-380.

32. Ahmetović A, Mushahwar VK, Sommer R, Schnepf D, Kawasaki L, Warwaruk-Rogers R, et al. Safety and feasibility of intermittent electrical stimulation for the prevention of deep tissue injury. Adv Wound Care 2015;4(3):192-201.

33. Kane A, Warwaruk-Rogers R, Ho C, Chan M, Stein R, Mushahwar VK, et al. A feasibility study of intermittent electrical stimulation to prevent deep tissue injury in the intensive care unit. Adv Wound Care 2017;6(4):115-124.

34. Janssen TW, Hopman MT. Blood flow response to electrically induced twitch and tetanic lower-limb muscle contractions. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2003;84(7):982-987.

3 General Conclusions and Future Directions

The main goal of my thesis was to investigate the use of intermittent electrical stimulation (IES) as a prophylactic method for deep vein thrombosis (DVT). To accomplish this, recruitment curves were constructed to determine the relationship between stimulation amplitude, force of IES-induced gastrocnemius contractions and venous velocity of the popliteal and femoral veins, while also assessing subject comfort. In addition to typically healthy people, testing was also conducted in post-stroke people focusing on their more affected side with atrophied muscles.

For typical subjects, IES produced significant increases from baseline not only in popliteal, but also in femoral venous velocity at low levels of IES-induced muscular contractions (11-20% of maximum voluntary contraction (MVC)). Moreover, these levels of stimulation were deemed to be comfortable by the typical study participants, all of whom had fully intact sensation. Similarly, in the post-stroke study participants, IES was able to produce significant increases in popliteal venous velocity above baseline, at low to moderate levels of IES-induced muscular contractions (51-60% of maximum recorded contractions with stimulation (MRCS)), and levels of stimulation that were deemed comfortable. These results demonstrate that IES can improve blood hemodynamics in high-risk DVT prone areas in the lower extremities, even in people with atrophied muscles, and suggest that has the potential to be an effective and acceptable intervention for DVT prophylaxis.

3.1 Conclusions

My results indicate that IES may be able to prevent DVT formation by reducing venous stasis, one of the components of Virchow's etiological triad for DVT. As the proficiency of venous hemodynamics and comfortability levels did not wane in the post-stroke group, this

suggests that this approach may be effective in a wide range of conditions with increased risk for developing DVT including the elderly, people with neurological conditions, bone and joint disorders, cancer treatment, smokers, pregnant women undergoing post-partum or frequent flyers.

Based on these encouraging results, an IES device is currently under development to test IES' efficacy in the long-term prevention of DVT. This system is patent-pending and trademarked as the SOCCTM (Figure 3-1). The system is composed of a "sock-like" garment with a miniature stimulator that are donned on the user to be used throughout the day. The hope is that the SOCCTM could be used in populations at high-risk of developing a DVT, particularly where immobilization is a concern and anticoagulant use is contraindicated.

3.2 Limitations

Patients with certain pathologies could limit IES' effectiveness and safety. For example, concerns regarding IES interfering with electrical therapeutic devices, such as pacemakers and deep brain stimulation, should be acknowledged and accounted for until it is shown that local IES would not disrupt their function. Motor neuropathy and neuromuscular disease are other pathologies that could limit the effectiveness of IES use should these conditions lead to muscle denervation. Lastly, IES use could dislodge a pre-existing DVT and lead to a possible embolus.

3.3 Future Directions

The results from this thesis suggest that IES is a viable modality for DVT prevention. However, some limitations of the current study need to be addressed in future investigations: 1) IES was shown to have effective hemodynamic changes at comfortable stimulation levels for healthy and post-stroke peoples. However, this was conducted through electrodes placed on the skin, attached to a hand-held stimulator, which is not the intended, final form of IES delivery for clinical application. Rather, the ability of the SOCCTM to replicate hemodynamic performance and comfort shown in this study should be validated to establish its translational potential. Moreover, testing of IES in the present study was performed where muscular contractions were isometric. Further study with the SOCCTM should determine if dynamic shortening contractions have an impact on venous hemodynamics and comfort.

- 2) Due to inherent limitations, IES was evaluated at only one session that lasted 2-3 hours on average. Current protocols for DVT prophylaxis, often require around 3 months of administration, depending on circumstance.¹ Therefore, evaluating the hemodynamics and comfort at multiple time points over a longer time course in healthy and higher-risk users would provide further confidence in the long-term feasibility of IES for DVT prevention.
- 3) Other electrical stimulation devices have been compared to and have shown promise against current mechanical prophylactic interventions of DVT, including intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC).²⁻⁴ Therefore, IES should be evaluated against IPC to determine that its hemodynamic performance and comfortability is equivalent to, if not superior than IPC, to further advocate its cause as a front-runner among electrical stimulation applications.
- 4) Our current thought is that IES could prevent DVT by activating the calf-muscle pump, increasing venous flow, and preventing stasis – a component of Virchow's etiological triad for DVT. However, it is uncertain, from a morphological standpoint, how electrical stimulation impacts venous flow through muscular contractions. One way to elucidate this mechanism is to perform magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), or other form of imaging, with and without application of IES. The construction of a mathematical model that can predict

blood flow under IES-induced contractions may serve to better understand blood flow changes with muscular contractions of the leg. This could enable a better understanding of how electrically induced contractions could prevent stasis and DVT formation and provide avenues for potential refinement of the stimulation paradigm in the future.

5) To ultimately demonstrate IES' potential to prevent DVT, clinical trials are needed to compare the current standard of care for DVT prevention against IES prophylaxis to determine differences in acute, sub-acute and chronic incidence rates of DVT. Alternatively, another insightful comparison would consider the standard of care against the standard of care plus IES use. Efforts, such as these, would strive to elucidate the effectiveness of IES in a diversity of potential users, asserting IES as either a viable or non-viable means of DVT prophylaxis.

3.4 Figures



Figure 3-1: The SOCC.TM

Smart ongoing circulatory compressions, or the SOCC,TM is a device designed to deliver IES in a user-friendly fashion.

3.5 References

 Kearon C, Akl EA, Comerota AJ, Prandoni P, Bounameaux H, Goldhaber SZ, et al.
 Antithrombotic therapy for VTE disease: Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis: American college of chest physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2012;141(2):e4198-e496S.

 Izumi M, Ikeuchi M, Mitani T, Taniguchi S, Tani, T. Prevention of venous stasis in the lower limb by transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2009;39(5):642-645.

3. Broderick BJ, O'Connell S, Moloney S, O'Halloran K, Sheehan J, Quondamatteo F, et al. Comparative lower limb hemodynamics using neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) versus intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC). Physiol Meas 2014;35(9):1849-1859.

4. Williams KJ, Moore HM, Davies AH. Haemodynamic changes with the use of neuromuscular electrical stimulation compared to intermittent pneumatic compression. Phlebology 2015;30(5):365-372.

Bibliography

Mayo Clinic Staff. Deep vein thrombosis - Symptoms and causes. 2018; Available from: https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/deep-vein-thrombosis/symptoms-causes/syc-20352557. [cited Jun 24,2019].

Raskob GE, Angchaisuksiri P, Blanco AN, Buller H, Gallus A, Hunt BJ, et al. Thrombosis: A major contributor to global disease burden. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2014;34(11):2363-2371.

Thrombosis Canada. Deep Vein Thrombosis: Treatment. 2013; Available from: http://thrombosiscanada.ca/guides/pdfs/DVT_Treatment.pdf. [cited Jun 25, 2019]

Heit JA, Mohr DN, Silverstein MD, Petterson TM, O'fallon WM, Melton LJ. Predictors of recurrence after deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-based cohort study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(6):761-768.

Vazquez SR, Kahn SR. Postthrombotic syndrome. Circulation 2010;121(8):e217-219.

Kahn SR, Comerota AJ, Cushman M, Evans NS, Ginsberg JS, Goldenberg NA, et al. The postthrombotic syndrome: Evidence-based prevention, diagnosis, and treatment strategies: A scientific statement from the american heart association. Circulation 2014;130(18):1636-1661.

Grosse SD, Nelson RE, Nyarko KA, Richardson LC, Raskob GE. The economic burden of incident venous thromboembolism in the united states: A review of estimated attributable healthcare costs. Thromb Res 2016;137:3-10.

Rahimtoola A, Bergin JD. Acute pulmonary embolism: An update on diagnosis and management. Curr Probl Cardiol 2005;30(2):61-114.

Heit J, Spencer F, White R. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2016;41(1):3-14.

Goldhaber SZ, Visani L, De Rosa M. Acute pulmonary embolism: Clinical outcomes in the international cooperative pulmonary embolism registry (ICOPER). Lancet 1999;353(9162):1386-1389.

Wong E, Chaudhry S. Venous thromboembolism (VTE). 2018; Available from: http://www.pathophys.org/vte/. [cited Jun 30, 2019]

Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis: A multicausal disease. Lancet 1999;353(9159):1167-1173.

Di Nisio M, van Es N, Büller HR. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. Lancet 2016;388(10063):3060-3073.

Kuipers S, Schreijer A, Cannegieter SC, Büller HR, Rosendaal FR, Middeldorp S. Travel and venous thrombosis: A systematic review. J Intern Med 2007;262(6):615-634.

Engbers MJ, Vlieg AVH, Rosendaal FR. Venous thrombosis in the elderly: Incidence, risk factors and risk groups. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8(10):2105-2112.

Rickles FR. Mechanisms of cancer-induced thrombosis in cancer. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2006;35(1-2):103-110. Falanga A, Panova-Noeva M, Russo L. Procoagulant mechanisms in tumour cells. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2009;22(1):49-60.

Tchaikovski SN, Rosing J. Mechanisms of estrogen-induced venous thromboembolism. Thromb Res 2010;126(1):5-11.

Muñoz FJ, Mismetti P, Poggio R, Valle R, Barrón M, Guil M, et al. Clinical outcome of patients with upper-extremity deep vein thrombosis: Results from the RIETE registry. Chest 2008;133(1):143-148.

Cogo A, Lensing AW, Prandoni P, Hirsh J. Distribution of thrombosis in patients with symptomatic deep vein thrombosis: Implications for simplifying the diagnostic process with compression ultrasound. Arch Intern Med 1993;153(24):2777-2780.

Douketis JD, Crowther MA, Foster GA, Ginsberg JS. Does the location of thrombosis determine the risk of disease recurrence in patients with proximal deep vein thrombosis? Am J Med 2001;110(7):515-519.

Wolberg AS, Rosendaal FR, Weitz JI, Jaffer IH, Agnelli G, Baglin T, et al. Venous thrombosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2015;1:15006.

Line BR. Pathophysiology and diagnosis of deep venous thrombosis. InSeminars in nuclear medicine 2001;31(2):90-101.

Morris TA. Natural history of venous thromboembolism. Crit Care Clin 2011;27(4):869-884.

Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'fallon WM, Melton LJ. Risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(6):809-815.

Heit JA, O'fallon WM, Petterson TM, Lohse CM, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, et al. Relative impact of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-based study. Arch Intern Med 2002;162(11):1245-1248.

Samama M. An epidemiologic study of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis in medical outpatients: The sirius study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(22):3415-3420.

Rodger MA, Kahn SR, Wells PS, Anderson DA, Chagnon I, Le Gal G, et al. Identifying unprovoked thromboembolism patients at low risk for recurrence who can discontinue anticoagulant therapy. CMAJ 2008;179(5):417-426.

Blom JW, Vanderschoot J, Oostindier MJ, Osanto S, Van Der Meer F, Rosendaal FR. Incidence of venous thrombosis in a large cohort of 66 329 cancer patients: Results of a record linkage study. J Thromb Haemost 2006;4(3):529-535.

Barsoum MK, Heit JA, Ashrani AA, Leibson CL, Petterson TM, Bailey KR. Is progestin an independent risk factor for incident venous thromboembolism? A population-based case-control study. Thromb Res 2010;126(5):373-378.

Cushman M, Folsom AR, Wang L, Aleksic N, Rosamond WD, Tracy RP, et al. Fibrin fragment D-dimer and the risk of future venous thrombosis. Blood 2003;101(4):1243-1248.

Zöller B, Ohlsson H, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Familial risk of venous thromboembolism in first-, second-and third-degree relatives: A nationwide family study in sweden. Thromb Haemost 2013;109(03):458-463.

Silverstein MD, Heit JA, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'fallon WM, Melton LJ. Trends in the incidence of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A 25-year population-based study. Arch Intern Med 1998;158(6):585-593.

Zakai NA, McClure LA, Judd SE, Safford MM, Folsom AR, Lutsey PL, et al. Racial and regional differences in venous thromboembolism in the united states in 3 cohorts. Circulation 2014;129(14):1502-1509.

Lacut K, Oger E, Le Gal G, Couturaud F, Louis S, Leroyer C, et al. Statins but not fibrates are associated with a reduced risk of venous thromboembolism: A hospital- based case–control study. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 2004;18(4):477-482.

MacCallum P, Bowles L, Keeling D. Diagnosis and management of heritable thrombophilias. BMJ 2014;349:g4387.

White RH, Zhou H, Romano PS. Incidence of symptomatic venous thromboembolism after different elective or urgent surgical procedures. Thromb Haemost 2003;90(09):446-455.

Khorana AA, Francis CW, Culakova E, Kuderer NM, Lyman GH. Thromboembolism is a leading cause of death in cancer patients receiving outpatient chemotherapy. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(3):632-634.

Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Piccioli A, Bernardi E, Simioni P, Girolami B, et al. Recurrent venous thromboembolism and bleeding complications during anticoagulant treatment in patients with cancer and venous thrombosis. Blood 2002;100(10):3484-3488.

Heit JA, Melton III LJ, Lohse CM, Petterson TM, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, O'Fallon WM. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients vs community residents. InMayo Clinic Proceedings 2001;76(11):1102-1110.

Jensvoll H, Severinsen MT, Hammerstrøm J, Brækkan SK, Kristensen SR, Cannegieter SC, et al. Existing data sources in clinical epidemiology: The scandinavian thrombosis and cancer cohort. J Clin Epidemiol 2015;7:401.

Scurr JH, Machin SJ, Bailey-King S, Mackie IJ, McDonald S, Smith PDC. Frequency and prevention of symptomless deep-vein thrombosis in long-haul flights: A randomised trial. Lancet 2001;357(9267):1485-1489.

Kearon C, Ageno W, Cannegieter SC, Cosmi B, Geersing G, Kyrle PA, et al. Categorization of patients as having provoked or unprovoked venous thromboembolism: Guidance from the SSC of ISTH. J Thromb Haemost 2016;14(7):1480-1483.

Januel J, Chen G, Ruffieux C, Quan H, Douketis JD, Crowther MA, et al. Symptomatic inhospital deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism following hip and knee arthroplasty among patients receiving recommended prophylaxis: A systematic review. JAMA 2012;307(3):294-303. Timp JF, Braekkan SK, Versteeg HH, Cannegieter SC. Epidemiology of cancer-associated venous thrombosis. Blood 2013;122(10):1712-1723.

Bell RG, Sadowski JA, Matschiner JT. Mechanism of action of warfarin. warfarin and metabolism of vitamin K1. Biochemistry 1972;11(10):1959-1961.

Poller L, McKernan A, Thomson JM, Elstein M, Hirsch PJ, Jones JB. Fixed minidose warfarin: A new approach to prophylaxis against venous thrombosis after major surgery. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987;295(6609):1309-1312.

Bern MM, Lokich JJ, Wallach SR, Bothe A, Benotti PN, Arkin CF, et al. Very low doses of warfarin can prevent thrombosis in central venous catheters: A randomized prospective trial. Ann Intern Med 1990;112(6):423-428.

Helin TA, Joutsi- Korhonen L, Asmundela H, Niemi M, Orpana A, Lassila R. Warfarin dose requirement in patients having severe thrombosis or thrombophilia. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2019.

Sheth SB, DiCicco RA, Hursting MJ, Montague T, Jorkasky DK. Interpreting the international normalized ratio (INR) in individuals receiving argatroban and warfarin. Thromb Haemost 2001;85(03):435-440.

Holbrook AM, Pereira JA, Labiris R, McDonald H, Douketis JD, Crowther M, et al. Systematic overview of warfarin and its drug and food interactions. Arch Intern Med 2005;165(10):1095-1106.

Hull R, Delmore T, Genton E, Hirsh J, Gent M, Sackett D, et al. Warfarin sodium versus lowdose heparin in the long-term treatment of venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med 1979;301(16):855-858.

Hirsh J. Heparin. N Engl J Med 1991;324(22):1565-1574.

Hirsh J, Levine MN. Low molecular weight heparin. Blood 1992;79(1):1-17.

Lagerstedt C, Fagher B, Olsson C, Öqvist B, Albrechtsson U. Need for long-term anticoagulant treatment in symptomatic calf-vein thrombosis. Lancet 1985;326(8454):515-518.

Eriksson BI, Bauer KA, Lassen MR, Turpie AG. Fondaparinux compared with enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after hip-fracture surgery. N Engl J Med 2001;345(18):1298-1304.

Bergqvist D, Benoni G, Björgell O, Fredin H, Hedlundh U, Nicolas S, et al. Low-molecularweight heparin (enoxaparin) as prophylaxis against venous thromboembolism after total hip replacement. N Engl J Med 1996;335(10):696-700.

Mismetti P, Laporte S, Darmon J, Buchmüller A, Decousus H. Meta- analysis of low molecular weight heparin in the prevention of venous thromboembolism in general surgery. Br J Surg 2001;88(7):913-930.

Turpie AG, Bauer KA, Eriksson BI, Lassen MR. Fondaparinux vs enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism in major orthopedic surgery: A meta-analysis of 4 randomized double-blind studies. Arch Intern Med 2002;162(16):1833-1840.

Castellucci LA, Cameron C, Le Gal G, Rodger MA, Coyle D, Wells PS, et al. Clinical and safety outcomes associated with treatment of acute venous thromboembolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2014;312(11):1122-1135.

Warkentin TE, Levine MN, Hirsh J, Horsewood P, Roberts RS, Gent M, et al. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in patients treated with low-molecular-weight heparin or unfractionated heparin. N Engl J Med 1995;332(20):1330-1336.

Martel N, Lee J, Wells PS. Risk for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia with unfractionated and low-molecular-weight heparin thromboprophylaxis: A meta-analysis. Blood 2005;106(8):2710-2715.

Linkins L, Dans AL, Moores LK, Bona R, Davidson BL, Schulman S, et al. Treatment and prevention of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis: American college of chest physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2012;141(2):e495S-e530S.

van Es N, Coppens M, Schulman S, Middeldorp S, Büller HR. Direct oral anticoagulants compared with vitamin K antagonists for acute venous thromboembolism: Evidence from phase 3 trials. Blood 2014;124(12):1968-1975.

Schulman S, Kakkar AK, Goldhaber SZ, Schellong S, Eriksson H, Mismetti P, et al. Treatment of acute venous thromboembolism with dabigatran or warfarin and pooled analysis. Circulation 2014;129(7):764-772.

Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, Mismetti P, Schellong S, Eriksson H, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2009;361(24):2342-2352.

Hokusai-VTE Investigators. Edoxaban versus warfarin for the treatment of symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2013;369(15):1406-1415.

Einstein Investigators. Oral rivaroxaban for symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2010;363(26):2499-2510.

Einstein–PE Investigators. Oral rivaroxaban for the treatment of symptomatic pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2012;366(14):1287-1297.

Agnelli G, Buller HR, Cohen A, Curto M, Gallus AS, Johnson M, et al. Oral apixaban for the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2013;369(9):799-808.

Lloyd NS, Douketis JD, Moinuddin I, Lim W, Crowther MA. Anticoagulant prophylaxis to prevent asymptomatic deep vein thrombosis in hospitalized medical patients: A systematic review and meta- analysis. Thromb Haemost 2008;6(3):405-414.

Johnsen SP, Sørensen HT, Mellemkjær L, Blot WJ, Nielsen GL, McLaughlin JK, et al. Hospitalisation for upper gastrointestinal bleeding associated with use of oral anticoagulants. Thromb Haemost 2001;86(08):563-568.

Hart RG, Tonarelli SB, Pearce LA. Avoiding central nervous system bleeding during antithrombotic therapy: Recent data and ideas. Stroke 2005;36(7):1588-1593.

Palareti G, Legnani C, Lee A, Manotti C, Hirsh J, D'Angelo A, et al. A comparison of the safety and efficacy of oral anticoagulation for the treatment of venous thromboembolic disease in patients with or without malignancy. Thromb Haemost 2000;84(11):805-810.

Shoeb M, Fang MC. Assessing bleeding risk in patients taking anticoagulants. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2013;35(3):312-319.

Linkins L, Choi PT, Douketis JD. Clinical impact of bleeding in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy for venous thromboembolism. Ann Intern Med 2003;139(11):893.

Benkö T, Cooke EA, McNally MA, Mollan R. Graduated compression stockings: Knee length or thigh length. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2001;383:197-203.

Brandjes DP, Büller HR, Heijboer H, Huisman MV, de Rijk M, Jagt H, et al. Randomised trial of effect of compression stockings in patients with symptomatic proximal-vein thrombosis. Lancet 1997;349(9054):759-762.

Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Prins MH, Frulla M, Marchiori A, Bernardi E, et al. Below-knee elastic compression stockings to prevent the post-thrombotic syndrome: A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2004;141(4):249-256.

Sachdeva A, Dalton M, Amaragiri SV, Lees T. Graduated compression stockings for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018(12).

CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Effectiveness of thigh-length graduated compression stockings to reduce the risk of deep vein thrombosis after stroke (CLOTS trial 1): A multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009;373(9679):1958-1965.

CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Thigh-length versus below-knee stockings for deep venous thrombosis prophylaxis after stroke: A randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2010;153(9):553.

Kakkos SK, Caprini JA, Geroulakos G, Nicolaides AN, Stansby G, Reddy DJ, et al. Combined intermittent pneumatic leg compression and pharmacological prophylaxis for prevention of venous thromboembolism. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2016(9).

Chen AH, Frangos SG, Kilaru S, Sumpio BE. Intermittent pneumatic compression devices– physiological mechanisms of action. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2001;21(5):383-392.

Comerota AJ, Chouhan V, Harada RN, Sun L, Hosking J, Veermansunemi R, et al. The fibrinolytic effects of intermittent pneumatic compression: Mechanism of enhanced fibrinolysis. Ann Surg 1997;226(3):306.

Hills NH, Pflug JJ, Jeyasingh K, Boardman L, Calnan JS. Prevention of deep vein thrombosis by intermittent pneumatic compression of calf. Br Med J 1972;1(5793):131-135.

Nicolaides AN, e Fernandes JF, Pollock AV. Intermittent sequential pneumatic compression of the legs in the prevention of venous stasis and postoperative deep venous thrombosis. Surgery 1980;87(1):69-76.

Urbankova J, Quiroz R, Kucher N, Goldhaber SZ. Intermittent pneumatic compression and deep vein thrombosis prevention. Thromb Haemost 2005;94(12):1181-1185.

CLOTS Trials Collaboration. Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression in reduction of risk of deep vein thrombosis in patients who have had a stroke (CLOTS 3): A multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2013;382(9891):516-524.

Pavon JM, Adam SS, Razouki ZA, McDuffie JR, Lachiewicz PF, Kosinski AS, et al. Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression devices for venous thromboembolism prophylaxis in high-risk surgical patients: A systematic review. J Arthroplasty 2016;31(2):524-532.

Turpie AG, Bauer KA, Caprini JA, Comp PC, Gent M, Muntz JE, et al. Fondaparinux combined with intermittent pneumatic compression vs. intermittent pneumatic compression alone for prevention of venous thromboembolism after abdominal surgery: A randomized, double- blind comparison. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(9):1854-1861.

Morris RJ, Woodcock JP. Evidence-based compression: Prevention of stasis and deep vein thrombosis. Ann Surg 2004;239(2):162.

Broderick BJ, O'Connell S, Moloney S, O'Halloran K, Sheehan J, Quondamatteo F, et al. Comparative lower limb hemodynamics using neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) versus intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC). Physiol Meas 2014;35(9):1849-1859.

Comerota AJ, Katz ML, White JV. Why does prophylaxis with external pneumatic compression for deep vein thrombosis fail? Am J Surg 1992;164(3):265-268.

Faghri PD, Van Meerdervort HP, Glaser RM, Figoni SF. Electrical stimulation-induced contraction to reduce blood stasis during arthroplasty. IEEE Transactions on Rehabilitation Engineering 1997;5(1):62-69.

Froimson MI, Murray TG, Fazekas AF. Venous thromboembolic disease reduction with a portable pneumatic compression device. J Arthroplasty 2009;24(2):310-316.

Clarke-Pearson DL, Dodge RK, Synan I, McClelland RC, Maxwell GL. Venous thromboembolism prophylaxis: Patients at high risk to fail intermittent pneumatic compression. Obstet Gynecol 2003;101(1):157-163.

Feldman JL, Stout NL, Wanchai A, Stewart BR, Cormier JN, Armer JM. Intermittent pneumatic compression therapy: A systematic review. Lymphology 2012;45(1):13.

Lachmann EA, Rook JL, Tunkel R, Nagler W. Complications associated with intermittent pneumatic compression. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1992;73(5):482-485.

Baker LL, Wederich C, McNeal DR, Newsam CJ, Waters RL. Neuro muscular electrical stimulation: A practical guide: Los Amigos Research & Education Institute; 2000.

Kane A, Warwaruk-Rogers R, Ho C, Chan M, Stein R, Mushahwar VK, et al. A feasibility study of intermittent electrical stimulation to prevent deep tissue injury in the intensive care unit. Adv Wound Care 2017;6(4):115-124.

Alon G, Levitt AF, McCarthy PA. Functional electrical stimulation (FES) may modify the poor prognosis of stroke survivors with severe motor loss of the upper extremity: A preliminary study. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2008;87(8):627-636.

Kern H, Barberi L, Löfler S, Sbardella S, Burggraf S, Fruhmann H, et al. Electrical stimulation counteracts muscle decline in seniors. Frontiers in aging neuroscience 2014;6:189.

Vivodtzev I, Debigare R, Gagnon P, Mainguy V, Saey D, Dube A, et al. Functional and muscular effects of neuromuscular electrical stimulation in patients with severe COPD: A randomized clinical trial. Chest 2012;141(3):716-725.

Doran F, Drury M, Sivyer A. A simple way to combat the venous stasis which occurs in the lower limbs during surgical operations. Br J Surg 1964;51(7):486-492.

Doran FS, White M, Drury M. A clinical trial designed to test the relative value of two simple methods of reducing the risk of venous stasis in the lower limbs during surgical operations, the danger of thrombosis, and a subsequent pulmonary embolus, with a survey of the problem. Br J Surg 1970;57(1):20.

Negus D. Prevention of postoperative leg vein thrombosis by electrical muscle stimulation. an evaluation with 125I-labelled fibrinogen. Br Med J 1970;3(5723):615-618.

Griffin M, Nicolaides AN, Bond D, Geroulakos G, Kalodiki E. The efficacy of a new stimulation technology to increase venous flow and prevent venous stasis. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010;40(6):766-771.

Embrey DG, Alon G, Brandsma BA, Vladimir F, Silva A, Pflugeisen BM, et al. Functional electrical stimulation improves quality of life by reducing intermittent claudication. Int J Cardiol 2017;243:454-459.

Ravikumar R, Williams KJ, Babber A, Lane TRA, Moore HM, Davies AH. Randomised controlled trial: Potential benefit of a footplate neuromuscular electrical stimulation device in patients with chronic venous disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2016;53(1):114-121.

Lobastov K, Ryzhkin V, Vorontsova A, Schastlivtsev I, Barinov V, Laberko L, et al. Electrical calf muscle stimulation in patients with post-thrombotic syndrome and residual venous obstruction after anticoagulation therapy. Int Angiol 2018;37(5):400-410.
Williams KJ, Moore HM, Davies AH. Haemodynamic changes with the use of neuromuscular electrical stimulation compared to intermittent pneumatic compression. Phlebology 2015;30(5):365-372.

Evans DRS, Williams KJ, Strutton PH, Davies AH. The comparative hemodynamic efficacy of lower limb muscles using transcutaneous electrical stimulation. Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2016;4(2):206-214.

Wei Y, Yang K, Browne M, Bostan L, Worsley P. Wearable electrical stimulation to improve lymphatic function. IEEE Sensors Letters 2019;3(2):1-4.

Vrbová G, Hudlická O, Centofanti KS. Application of muscle/nerve stimulation in health and disease. Springer Science & Business Media; 2008.

Gloviczki P. Handbook of venous and lymphatic disorders: Guidelines of the american venous forum. CRC Press; 2017.

Hajibandeh S, Hajibandeh S, Antoniou GA, Scurr J, Torella F. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation for thromboprophylaxis: A systematic review. Phlebology 2015;30(9):589-602.

Breen PP, Galvin O, Quondamatteo F, Grace PA, OLaighin G. Comparison of single- and twochannel neuromuscular electrical stimulation sites for enhancing venous return. TNSRE 2012;20(3):389-394.

Lyons GM, Leane GE, Clarke-Moloney M, O'Brien JV, Grace PA. An investigation of the effect of electrode size and electrode location on comfort during stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle. Med Eng Phys 2004;26(10):873-878.

Alon G. High voltage stimulation: Effects of electrode size on basic excitatory responses. Phys Ther 1985;65(6):890-895.

Tucker A, Maass A, Bain D, Chen L, Azzam M, Dawson H, et al. Augmentation of venous, arterial and microvascular blood supply in the leg by isometric neuromuscular stimulation via the peroneal nerve. Int J Angiol 2010;19(1):e31-e37.

Martínez-Rodríguez A, Senin-Camargo F, Raposo-Vidal I, Chouza-Insua M, Rodríguez-Romero B, Jácome MA. Effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation via peroneal nerve or soleus muscle on venous flow: A randomized cross-over study in healthy subjects. Medicine 2018;97(36).

Lindström B, Korsan- Bengtsen K, Jonsson O, Petruson B, Pettersson S, Wikstrand J. Electrically induced short- lasting tetanus of the calf muscles for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. Br J Surg 1982;69(4):203-206.

Janssen TW, Hopman MT. Blood flow response to electrically induced twitch and tetanic lowerlimb muscle contractions. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2003;84(7):982-987.

Lyons GM, Leane GE, Grace PA. The effect of electrical stimulation of the calf muscle and compression stocking on venous blood flow velocity. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2002;23(6):564-566.

Nicolaides AN, Kakkar VV, Field ES, Fish P. Optimal electrical stimulus for prevention of deep vein thrombosis. BMJ 1972;(5829):756-758.

Corley GJ, Bîrlea SI, Breen P, ÓLaighin G. Popliteal blood flow and plantar flexion force due to

neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) of the calf muscle pump are strongly associated with NMES intensity. In2009 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society 2009; 3051-3054. IEEE.

Yang S, Gong X, Wei S, Gu X, Shi J, Jiang C, et al. A hemodynamic study of the effect of neuromuscular electrical stimulation on enhancing popliteal venous flow. J Shanghai Jiaotong Univ (Sci) 2014;19(6):706-711.

Zhang Q, Styf J, Ekström L, Holm AK. Effects of electrical nerve stimulation on force generation, oxygenation and blood volume in muscles of the immobilized human leg. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2014;74(5):369-377.

Doran F, White HM. A demonstration that the risk of postoperative deep venous thrombosis is reduced by stimulating the calf muscles electrically during the operation. Br J Surg 1967;54(8):686-689.

Rosenberg IL, Evans M, Pollock IV. Prophylaxis of postoperative leg vine thrombosis by low dose subcutaneous heparin or peroperative calf muscle stimulation: A controlled clinical trial. Br Med J 1975(5959):649-51.

Izumi M, Ikeuchi M, Aso K, Sugimura N, Kamimoto Y, Mitani T, et al. Less deep vein thrombosis due to transcutaneous fibular nerve stimulation in total knee arthroplasty: A randomized controlled trial. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2015;23(11):3317-3323. Boström S, Holmgren E, Jonsson O, Lindberg S, Lindström B, Winsö I, et al. Post-operative thromboembolism in neurosurgery. A study on the prophylactic effect of calf muscle stimulation plus dextran compared to low-dose heparin. Acta neurochirurgica 1986;80(3-4):83-89.

Velmahos GC, Petrone P, Chan LS, Hanks SE, Brown CV, Demetriades D. Electrostimulation for the prevention of deep venous thrombosis in patients with major trauma: A prospective randomized study. Surgery 2005;137(5):493-498.

Dejode LR, Khurshid M, Walther WW. The influence of electrical stimulation of the leg during surgical operations on the subsequent development of deep- vein thrombosis. Br J Surg 1973;60(1):31-32.

Hajibandeh S, Hajibandeh S, Antoniou GA, Scurr JR, Torella F. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation for the prevention of venous thromboembolism. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017(11).

Warwick DJ, Shaikh A, Gadola S, Stokes M, Worsley P, Bain D, et al. Neuromuscular electrostimulation via the common peroneal nerve promotes lower limb blood flow in a below-knee cast. Bone Joint Res 2013;2(9):179-185.

Jawad H, Bain DS, Dawson H, Crawford K, Johnston A, Tucker A. The effectiveness of a novel neuromuscular electrostimulation method versus intermittent pneumatic compression in enhancing lower limb blood flow. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2014;2(2):160-165.

Badger J, Taylor P, Papworth N, Swain I. Electrical stimulation devices for the prevention of venous thromboembolism: Preliminary studies of physiological efficacy and user satisfaction. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng 2018;5:2055668318800218.

Summers JA, Clinch J, Radhakrishnan M, Healy A, McMillan V, Morris E, et al. The geko[™] electro-stimulation device for venous thromboembolism prophylaxis: A NICE medical technology guidance. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2015;13(2):135-147.

Lattimer CR, Zymvragoudakis V, Geroulakos G, Kalodiki E. Venous thromboprophylaxis with neuromuscular stimulation: Is it calf muscle pumping or just twitches and jerks? Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2018;24(3):446-451.

Ojima M, Takegawa R, Hirose T, Ohnishi M, Shiozaki T, Shimazu T. Hemodynamic effects of electrical muscle stimulation in the prophylaxis of deep vein thrombosis for intensive care unit patients: A randomized trial. J Intensive Care 2017;5(1):9.

Ahmetović A, Mushahwar VK, Sommer R, Schnepf D, Kawasaki L, Warwaruk-Rogers R, et al. Safety and feasibility of intermittent electrical stimulation for the prevention of deep tissue injury. Adv Wound Care 2015;4(3):192-201.

Kearon C, Akl EA, Comerota AJ, Prandoni P, Bounameaux H, Goldhaber SZ, et al. Antithrombotic therapy for VTE disease: Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis: American college of chest physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2012;141(2):e419S-e496S.

Appendix

Group 1 Detailed Subject Characteristics

Subject	Sex	Age	Popliteal Venous Diameter (cm)
•	Female	51	0.68
•)•	Male	55	1.19
-₩-	Female	58	0.79
-ƥ	Male	59	0.86
-#-	Male	26	1.00
••□•••	Male	60	1.15
	Male	55	0.92
<u></u> ب	Male	33	0.99
	Female	27	0.93
∇	Female	38	0.98
•	Male	64	1.05
\bigcirc	Male	53	1.32

Subject	Sex	Age	Popliteal Venous Diameter (cm)	Femoral Venous Diameter (cm)
•	Female	59	0.72	0.79
•)•	Male	26	0.95	0.89
	Male	34	0.90	0.92
$ \bigtriangleup $	Male	60	0.90	0.95
-	Male	22	1.10	1.00
••	Male	22	1.00	1.10
	Male	21	1.04	1.05
<u>ب</u>	Male	25	0.61	0.75
	Male	57	0.80	0.85
∇	Male	55	0.96	0.93

Group 2 Detailed Subject Characteristics

Subject	Sex	Age	Popliteal Venous Diameter (cm)
•	Male	49	0.86
•)•	Male	69	0.60
-₩-	Female	55	0.52
Δ	Male	70	0.54
-	Male	65	0.48
••_•	Female	89	0.55
 •••	Male	85	0.61
\diamond .	Male	46	0.46
	Female	57	0.48
∇	Male	68	0.62

Group 3 Detailed Subject Characteristics